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Conference Program of Events

The Saskatchewan Association of Architects
EVOLVE MAKE BUILD
Elk Ridge Resort, Saskatchewan 

THURSDAY MAY 7

2:00 pm  SAA Council Meeting 

7:00 - 9:00 pm  Conference Registration

7:00 - 9:00 pm  Opening Reception - Prince Albert National Park Speaker and SAA Renovation Video

9:00 pm - 1:00 am  Hospitality Suite 

FRIDAY MAY 8

7:00 am - 2:00 pm  Companion Program 

8:30 am - 5:00 pm Conference Registration

8:30 - 9:30 am  Breakfast

9:30 - 10:30 am  Plenary Session - Sasa Radulovic, 5468796 Architecture

10:30 - 11:00 am  Refreshment Break

11:00 am - 12:00 pm Plenary Session - Susan Fitzgerald, Susan Fitzgerald Architecture / Fowler Bauld & Mitchell  

12:00 - 1:00 pm  Lunch   

1:00 - 2:00 pm  Plenary Session - Michael Feeney, Quadrant Insurance Services

2:00 - 2:15 pm  Refreshment Break

2:15 - 3:15 pm  Plenary Session - Betsy Williamson, Williamson Chong Architects 

3:15 - 3:45 pm  Refreshment Break

3:45 - 5:00 pm  Panel Discussion

6:00 - 7:00 pm  Meet and Greet for Women in the Profession

7:00 - 9:00 pm  Reception / Dinner  
                100 Ideas for Saskatchewan

9:00 pm - 1:00 am  Hospitality Suite



Annual Report

3

SATURDAY MAY 9

7:00 am - 2:00 pm  Companion Program 

8:30 am - 1:30 pm Conference Registration

8:30 - 9:30 am  Breakfast
               100 Ideas for Saskatchewan Sketch Reveal 

9:30 - 10:30 am  Member Forum Session 1

10:30 - 10:45 am  Refreshment Break

10:45 am - 12:00 pm  Member Forum Session 2

12:00 - 1:00 pm  Lunch

1:15 - 4:00 pm  Saskatchewan Association of Architects Annual General Meeting (SAA AGM)

4:00 - 5:00 pm  SAA Council Meeting

6:00 - 7:00 pm  Champagne Reception

7:00 - 9:00 pm  President’s Dinner
                Lego Competition 

9:00 pm - 12:00 am  Hospitality Room
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Annual General Meeting
MAY 9, 2015   

1:15 pm  Wapiti Room 
Elk Ridge Resort, Saskatchewan

AGENDA

Chairperson: Bob Burnyeat, SAA President

1. Call to Order

2. President’s Welcome

3. Acceptance of the Agenda

4. Acceptance of the Minutes of the 2014 Annual General Meeting

5. Nominations Committee Report and Introduction of Council Member Nominees     

6. Acceptance of the 2014 Financial Statements

7. Adoption of the 2015 Operating Budget

8. Reports 
 Questions from the members regarding all reports published in the 2014 Annual Report

9. Acceptance of Reports

10. Bylaw Amendments

11. Election of Council Members

12. Vote on Life Member Nominations

13. Appointment of Accountants for the year ending December 31, 2015

14. Other Business

15. Announcements

16. Adjournment
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President
BOB BURNYEAT

As the self-governing body for architects in Saskatchewan, the Saskatchewan Association of Architects fulfills many 
roles. In its primary role the SAA acts as a regulator, upholding the requirements of The Architects Act, 1996 and the 
SAA Bylaws. The SAA also performs an advocacy role, providing a voice for members and architecture in general. 
Additionally, the SAA works in an advisory role to its members and the public, from time to time, on matters that affect 
architecture in Saskatchewan and beyond.

Architecture has, I believe, experienced a rebirth in Saskatchewan. The public’s desire to see better design and 
planning has increased, fueled in part by what has been a buoyant economy over the past decade or so. Saskatchewan 
has seen a renewed public interest in good design, sustainability and new ways of constructing our built environment. 
We need to continue to push for the great design that architects can deliver. Architects have the ability to provide 
leadership for this renewed interest and the SAA is very well positioned to assist in these endeavours.

Over the past ten years we have seen our overall membership grow, from 164 registered architects in 2004 to 434 
registered architects in 2014. Of those numbers, our membership was split roughly in half between resident and 
non-resident members in 2004. In 2014, while our resident membership grew by 29 members, the residency split is 
much more pronounced, with non-resident members representing roughly 75% of the SAA membership. The number 
of firms licensed to practice has risen from 102 to 292 in that same time period. This has brought many challenges to 
the SAA and its members. The SAA continues to educate government on the value that local architects provide to 
Saskatchewan, while also being cognizant of the trade agreements that our government has negotiated on our behalf. 
We believe that our voice, combined with the voices of other members of the design and construction industries, have 
been heard and we are beginning to shift, albeit slowly, to a more locally based, value for money selection of consultants. 
However there is still a long way to go on this front. The most promising news on the growth front is that we now have 
41 student members, up from 11 in 2004. This is particularly important as we consider that many of the senior 
members of our profession are now contemplating retirement, similar to many trades and professions in the province.

While membership growth is interesting, and most likely due to the buoyant economy that Saskatchewan has 
enjoyed, combined with other factors such as reductions to internal and international trade barriers, it is the effect this 
growth has had on the governance of the SAA that is of significance. With this growth, SAA staff and Council are 
experiencing added pressures as we administrate the affairs of a much larger organization than existed have in the 
past. There are issues and questions that inevitably arise, as a large percentage of our membership come from other 
jurisdictions where governance may often be somewhat different. Our SAA staff are to be commended for their 
handling of the increased workload and the professional manner in which they execute their day to day duties on our 
members’ behalf. SAA staff have made and continue to make great strides to organize and streamline member affairs. 
The staff’s strides will allow more time to be dedicated to other SAA goals such as advocacy, provincial issues and 
member education. Our work on bylaw updates, to keep pace with the challenges that diverse and changing times 
dictate will continue, with much accomplished over the last few years.

One of the major issues that our members have had to face this past year is the continuance of P3s as a preferred 
model of procurement by our government. While the SAA has been clear about not being against P3s per se, we have 
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been vocal about not being in favour of the bundling of projects into large P3s (as in the case of schools) and how 
this affects our members and Saskatchewan as a whole. We will continue to voice our concerns over various 
procurement methods, while being mindful that these new methods are being embraced by government as well as 
the fact that some of our members are participating and contributing to the success that these models may have. 

While not so obvious to members, the SAA has been diligent in overseeing infringements of practice, primarily, but 
not exclusively, in the form of non-registration by out of province members and/or firms, or non-qualified individuals. 
We continue to emphasize the protection of the public, our responsibility as a self-governing association. This is in 
direct opposition to the often-held view that we are only protecting our turf. We hope to continue to educate 
Saskatchewan governments at all levels, as well as the general public, about the value of local experience, 
knowledge and long term commitment that local architects bring to projects.

We have seen progress this past year on one of the SAA’s pet projects - the school of architecture. Much has been 
presented on this in the past, so I won’t reiterate that, but to say that we were buoyed by the renewed enthusiasm at 
last year’s AGM; work has continued since that time. You will read more on this in a subsequent report. There has 
been interest for involvement from Saskatchewan Polytechnic. This, combined with the U of S’ renewed interest, has 
led us to expect to see progress on this over the next year. SAA Council has and will continue to press our provincial 
government for support of this exciting initiative. 

If you have not had a chance to see the completed renovations to the SAA office, make sure you stop in and check 
them out. Thanks to the hard work of Lyle Wiebe and the SAA staff, we now have a very professional office that is 
much more representative of the modern association that we are.

Personally, I must say that this has been a particularly rewarding year for me. It has been truly an honour to serve as 
your SAA President. It has been very challenging for me to try and balance the demands of a private practice and 
leadership at the SAA - I have enjoyed those challenges. We had a wonderful mix of older and younger council 
members and I have appreciated all their hard work throughout the year. My thanks to our public appointees, Bruce 
Sparling and Ray Mark, who have provided outside wisdom to assist us in our challenges and decisions. I would like 
to thank Colin Tenent and Andrew Wallace, SAA members at the U of S, for their continued support and energy for the 
school of architecture project. There continues to be much work and progress made on the CALA front - my thanks to 
Dave Edwards and Janelle Unrau for their hard work there. Whitney Robson has been a key and valuable member of 
the Practice Committee and of course, our resident craftsperson. The efforts of Annette Horvath and Rhonda Schindel 
on a daily basis, on a multitude of things often beyond their job descriptions, do not get the recognition and thanks 
they deserve. And finally thanks to Janelle for her intelligent, dedicated, hard work on behalf of the SAA and her 
patience with me as a rookie president (as most of us are) and a challenger of most things judicial. We are fortunate 
to have such a dedicated voice for the SAA in Janelle.

The upcoming year will see many old challenges continue, some new ones arise and some successes on many fronts. 
You will have an excellent SAA Council under the strong leadership of Dave Edwards and I would ask that you support 
them in any way you can. 
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Secretary - Treasurer 
LYLE WIEBE

Saskatchewan Association of Architects 2015 Operating Budget

 2013 Dec 30 2014 2015
 unaudited unaudited Budget 

Revenues   

Annual Dues 504,825  583,865   567,998 

Other Membership 2,195  5,460   2,000 

Reinstatements & Other Penalties 2,750  55,700   -   

Investment Earnings 10,037  9,939   -   

AGM Revenue 75,050  67,016   75,995 

Other Income 7,336  17,169   7,120 

Transfer from Reserves   -    

  602,193   739,149   653,113 

Expenditures   

Advertising & Promotion 2,845  4,220   30,800 

Advocacy 4,774  3,428   3,850 

Amortization 1,709  23,507   -   

Annual General Meeting 52,765  58,636   75,995 

Bad Debts 419  -     -   

Bank Charges 6,959  9,007   10,105 

CALA Assessments 13,595  10,422   11,968 

CALA Interprovincial Meetings 9,030  17,616   10,818 

Council Expense 18,895  25,998   47,365 

Member Expenses 8,976  8,181   7,675 

Office	 17,827	 	27,777		 	25,169	

Other Expense 1,087  2,730   10,850 

Professional Fees 37,758  23,564   37,785 

Rent 28,480  31,774   35,438 

Salaries	&	Employee	Benefits	 256,720	 	307,985		 	311,605	

Scholarships & Awards 42,061  22,091   32,250 

Utilities 1,127  1,238   1,440 

 505,027  578,174   653,113

Excess of revenues over expenditures 97,166  160,975   (0)
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The SAA continues to be on firm financial footing, based on a concerted effort over the past few years to carefully 
manage funds to meet expenses and also strategically grow reserves. The 2014 operating surplus of  $160,975 
(member’s equity growth) was transferred to the SAA investment account immediately following the Ernst and Young 
financial review. Please note that the financial statements attribute only the growth in member’s equity to the 
operating surplus. Investment income is realized when investments are sold. The SAA did not sell investments in 
2014, but on average has realized an ‘Annualized Rate of Return’ of over 4% since it started the investment in 1999.

 

Graphics supplied by RBC Dominion Securities
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SAA Reserves Fund at December 31 2014   

Investment Value    $435,397 

School of Arch Levy Restricted Funds    $(68,200)

Total Unrestricted Reserves      $367,197 

   

60% of 2015 budgeted expenses $391,868   
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As a non-profit organization the SAA is allowed to accumulate funds to maintain operations if there is a sudden and 
unexpected loss of revenue. The SAA goal is to have 60% of annual expenses in reserves. The SAA is currently 
$24,671 ahead of that goal. 

The SAA’s investment account is holding $68,200 as School of Architecture Restricted Funds and has yet to raise 
$51,800 towards the $120,000 School of Architecture Fund commitment. 

The SAA office lease was renewed this year. As well, overdue office renovations were undertaken to improve the 
functionality of the office space, allow for future staff changes and improve office flexibility. The reception and work 
areas were updated to suit the office needs, and refresh the professional image of the Association. The underutilized 
storage areas were reduced to expand the boardroom, which now includes updated teleconferencing technology. 
This will allow for board meetings and other associated meetings to occur at the SAA, instead of the Association 
renting meeting space elsewhere. If you missed the grand opening, please take the chance to visit and say hello to 
Janelle and the staff. The cost of the renovation was accrued as a liability at December 31, 2014 and was paid for in 
2015. It is expected that the SAA can meet 2015 expenses without drawing from the reserves. 

Note: ‘Reinstatements & Other Penalties’ is now a revenue line item in the operating budget. The amount found on 
this revenue line has increased greatly from previous years as a result of the SAA more closely abiding by and 
enforcing our bylaws. Bylaw compliance was much improved in 2015 and it is assumed this trend will continue as 
members continue to recognize the importance of renewing their membership and licence on time as well as 
maintaining their Con Ed requirements and submitting them correctly.

Similarly, expenses have also increased. The increased membership (registered architect and intern members) means 
an increased load on staff. Staff have been added to support membership growth. Additionally, staff are required to 
support the strategic initiatives of Council; each staff is assigned as support to one or more committees of Council. 
Council has also become more active in supporting the profession at the provincial level and this also requires the 
support and time of staff. Currently there is one full-time and three .8 time staff. The office is open Monday - Friday.

The 2015 budget was built to support the strategic initiatives of Council and meet the ongoing administrative 
requirements of the Association. Council reviews and approves the annual budget each year in November. By way of 
the budget, Council also sets the schedule for annual fees for the upcoming year. Council voted to increase fees in 
2014. The previous increase was incurred in 2012. The increase in fees supports the additional administrative 
requirements of the growth in SAA membership, the creation and publication of practice bulletins according to SAA 
legislation and regulation, more direct advocacy for member issues with government as well as strategic work with 
CES, APEGS and the Saskatchewan Construction Association. 

A new SAA website has been in the budget for the past few years - it is not yet complete. The website is in the budget 
again for 2015 and the related expenses have been carried forward as well. Although AGM expenses show a 
budgeted 29.6% increase, the Council directed the AGM committee to make the 2015 AGM revenue-neutral. It was 
budgeted accordingly for accordingly. The budgeted increase in Council expense is to support: additional work with 
Government, meeting twice annually with ACEC|SK, meetings between the AAA, AIBC and SAA as well as participation 
on special committees such as the Saskatchewan Construction Panel Industry Working Group. The 2015 Council 
expense also includes the addition of an annual Council Retreat.
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Executive Director
JANELLE S. UNRAU

The SAA exists to fulfill the requirements delegated to it by the Province of Saskatchewan. According to Black’s L aw 
Dictionary, a self-regulatory organization is “a nongovernmental organization that is statutorily empowered to regulate 
its members by adopting and enforcing rules of conduct, esp. those governing fair, ethical and efficient practices.”

The SAA is a dual-object professional organization, with authorities delegated to it by the province. As prescribed in 
The Architects Act, 1996, the objects of the Association are:

	 (a)		to	ensure	for	the	public	the	proficiency	and	competency	of	members	who	practice	architecture;
	 (b)		to	promote	and	increase	the	knowledge,	skill	and	proficiency	in	all	things	related	to	the	practice	of	architecture.
	 1996,	c.A-25.1,	s.4.

The SAA Act and Bylaws (legislation and regulations) govern administrative and operational activities and decisions of 
Council. They allow the Association to undertake activities which promote and protect the interests of the Association 
and of the profession as long as doing so does not impede or interfere with the Association’s primary objective, to 
protect the public. The advocacy work of the SAA is done within the context of the protection of the public mandate. 

Self-regulation is a privilege and an awesome responsibility. As the regulator, the Association is accountable for the 
delivery of obligations rather than just services.

At first registration, each applicant declares to be governed and bound by the Act and Bylaws of the Association, as 
well as to advance the interest and objects of the SAA. To fulfill the obligations assigned to the SAA by the province, 
the Association needs its members to be actively involved, well versed in its legislation and regulations and willing to 
serve on committees and Council. With just over 100 members, there are few of you to take on the responsibilities of 
many. Yet, many have served selflessly, enriching the profession and often enhancing their own experience of it.

The SAA staff members are pleased to support the mandate and endeavours of the Association, along with the 
dedicated volunteers. This past year, Council realized that membership growth had outpaced staffing levels. The member 
to staff ratio, significantly lower than in other jurisdictions, challenged the Association’s ability to accomplish its work. 
Council mandated an increase from 200 members per one staff to 130:1. Currently, administrative and operational 
activities are carried out professionally by the following individuals: 

Annette Horvath is our Member Services Coordinator. She provides direct support to the Treasurer and Registrar, 
ensuring that all requirements of membership, licensure and renewals are achieved. She is also responsible for the 
Association’s bookkeeping and the preparation of the financial reports for Council. Annette creates the member 
newsletter and is the staff lead to the Communications Committee. One of Annette’s special projects this year will be 
to ensure the successful launch of the new SAA website. Annette’s position was increased to full-time this past June, 
allowing the office to be open Monday to Friday.
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Rhonda Schindel is our Operations Coordinator and ensures the daily operations of the SAA are achieved. In the 
absence of the Executive Director, Rhonda assumes that responsibility. She is also the coordinator for the Internship 
in Architecture Program, including the SAA’s annual administration of the Examination for Architects in Canada 
(ExAC). Rhonda is the staff lead to the Education Committee. She assists with special projects such as the 
implementation of the amended corporation bylaws. One of her special projects this past year was to coordinate the 
office renovation. Rhonda and Annette both support the AGM Committee to ensure a productive, enjoyable 
weekend for members.

Whitney Robson is our Practice and Policy Coordinator. Those of you serving and destined to serve your professional 
association on Council or through practice-related items will know her well, as she provides direct support to these 
bodies. She coordinates with staff and committees to prepare council agendas and packages as well as produces 
the Association’s annual report. The bulk of her time is dedicated to the work of the Practice Committee, conducting 
policy analysis, recommendation and development. Her position is rooted in research and is supported by SAA legal 
counsel. She is our staff expert on SAA legislation and regulations and she writes the practice bulletins and council 
policies. Whitney works closely with the Executive Director to implement the decisions of Council, coordinating this 
work with staff. She prepares the bylaw amendments for the Association, files changes with the province and when 
approved, assures the implementation. 

I work directly with and support the Executive of Council. Together, we brought SAA concerns and initiatives to 
provincial ministers four times in 2014. We are in direct discussions with government regarding the P3s/bundling 
of schools project, the proposed school of architecture and various aspects of procurement and delivery of 
architectural services. I participate with and assist Council Executive in their various committee work (i.e. 
Saskatchewan Construction Panel, Saskatchewan Construction Association Advisory Council) and together this 
past year we have met with and participated in special events of the Association of Professional Engineers & 
Geoscientists of Saskatchewan and the Association of Consulting Engineering Companies | SK. Along with your 
president and 1st vice president, I participate in Canadian Architectural Licensing Authorities (CALA) meetings and 
serve on the national Internship in Architecture Program Task Force. The SAA will host the CALA in Saskatoon this 
coming November. I represent the SAA at provincial and national events building strategic relationships to benefit 
the Association. Of course, I oversee all the affairs and activities of the SAA, and while it is an incredible 
responsibility, I find it a privilege to do so. 

In closing, I wish to acknowledge the stupendous SAA work accomplished by volunteers, and the extreme 
dedication of staff who work with the profession, supporting them to accomplish their goals and objectives. I remain 
ever thankful to you for the opportunity to serve.
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Registrar 
LYLE WIEBE

 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Registered Members   433 401 353 317 277 239 215 187 175 178

Resident   108 108 105 102 92 87 80 81 79 82

Non-Resident   325 293 248 215 185 152 135 106 96 96

Associated Members   1 2 1 1 5 5 3 4 3 5

Leave of Absence   2 2 2 2 1 2 4 2 2 1

Non-Practicing (Retired)   8 8 8 8 10 9 8 8 9 10

Life Members   8 8 8 8 9 7 8 8 7 7

Honorary Members   3 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3

Total   455 424 376 340 306 266 242 213 200 204

                     

Firms   292 293 244 202 150 149 127 107 103 105

                     

Student Members   41 41 41 35 29 31 29 24 15 19

Membership continued its strong growth trend in 2014. Registered architect membership grew by 8%, from 401 to 
433. Three of the new resident members were through first registration - Anthony Cameron, Brad Pickard and Victoria 
Young-Hing, who all successfully completed the Internship in Architecture Program.

Membership Trends: 

Over the past ten years, membership has grown by 143%, from 178 to 433. Resident architect membership growth 
continues to be outpaced by non-resident. In 2005, 46% of registered architect members were resident. In 2014, 
resident Registered Architect members comprise only 25% of the total membership. 

  2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Registered Members   433 401 353 317 277 239 215 187 175 178

Resident   108 108 105 102 92 87 80 81 79 82

    25% 27% 30% 32% 33% 36% 37% 43% 45% 46%

Non-Resident   325 293 248 215 185 152 135 106 96 96

    75% 73% 70% 68% 67% 64% 63% 57% 55% 54%
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An initiative of SAA Council this year was to improve the renewal process for members and licence holders. Two council 
policies were developed to bring more clarity to the renewal process. The SAA Act and Bylaws require specific activities 
for annual membership and licence renewals. The renewal council policies detail the requirements that registered SAA 
members and licensed firms must meet in order to properly complete the annual renewal process. Additionally, a 
renewal newsletter was emailed weekly December through January and past due notices were sent mid-January to those 
members and firms whose fees were outstanding. Council approved the electronic submission of the 2015 renewal 
declaration and the requirement for the declaration to be signed by a Notary/Commissioner of Oaths was removed. As a 
result, only nine members and five licence holders were automatically struck for non-payment of fees.

At the 2014 AGM, membership approved bylaw amendments effecting licensure requirements of corporations. The 
bylaw changes most directly pertain to the partnership of corporations’ structure. Implementation of the bylaw 
amendments began with the 2015 renewal and will proceed throughout the year.

Unlicensed practice is a concern of SAA Council. SAA staff has implemented activities to discover unlicensed practice 
and pursue individuals and firms or corporations involved. Members are encouraged to notify the SAA of instances of 
unlicensed practice.  

Delinquent registration or registration after practice in the province began is also an issue the SAA has documented. 
This is addressed with the levying of a $1,000 fine for delinquent registration and fees retroactive to the first date of 
practice in the province. Members are also encouraged to notify the SAA of instances of this practice infraction.

Staff continue the work toward clearing the backlog of administrative activities. Information Services Corporation 
(ISC) requires notification from the SAA when a corporation ceases to hold a Licence to Practice. Specifically, the SAA 
must revoke the consent to use the word ‘architecture” as part of the corporate name and request that the Director of 
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Corporations take the steps to change the name of the corporation to a name that does not imply a connection 
between the corporation and the SAA. This activity is pursuant to subsection 22(2) of The Architects Act, 1996. It is 
hoped that staff will be able to accomplish this initiative by year-end.

Register Update

New SAA Members by Completion of the Internship in Architecture Program

Anthony Cameron

Brad Pickard

Victoria Yong-Hing

New SAA Members

Thomas Abele 

Leonard Abelman 

Paul  Anderson

Vaidila Banelis

Carl Blanchaer

Darren Burns

Lawrence Carcoana

Nicola Casciato

Harrison Chan

Guy Laurence Cudlip

Christopher Daly

Marten  Duhoux

Douglas Erickson

Mark Flasch

Ronald D. Gagliardi

Veronica Gillies

Chris Gilmour

Patricia Glanville

Christopher Gowing

Michael Habel

Otto Hammer

Stuart  Howard

Kevin Humeniuk

Johanna Hurme

Kelly Kerns

Tarek El-Khatib

Jacqueline  Jasinski

Viktors Jaunkalns

Daniel Johnson

Jamie Kozak

Roman Kucharczyk

Paul Kulig

Peter MacKenzie

Peter Mallen 

Ivica  Marinic

J. David Miller

Paul Nigro

Brent  North

Michael O’Leary

Aleksandar Radulovic

Kirsten Reite

Kurt Rockstroh

William H. Ross

Robert  Sampson

Andrew Sinclair

John Van Nostrand

Ronald Vestri

Shaun Visser

Spencer Warncke

Edward  Watson

Daniel  Wiechel

John White

Jean Yien

Tony Yue 

SAA Members - Readmitted

Brian Chamberlain

Peter Lovick

Eric Toker

Dennis Voigt

SAA Members - Reinstated

Peter Gabor
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SAA Members - Change in Status - Leave of Absence

Lilia Buza

Jyhling Lee

SAA Members - Change in Status - Return from Leave of Absence

Anna Cascioli

Teresa Coady

Marcy Shelvey

SAA Members - Change in Status - Member to Retired Member

Ben Hladun

William Hutchinson

Robert Trumbley

New Intern Architects

Samuel Farthing

Ibrar Hussain

Lisa Karkut

Florian Lazar

Setlhomo 
Matebekwane

Akinsola Omolola

Dorian Resener

Thilini Samarasekera

Licence to Practice - New

Paul Anderson Architecture Inc.

LeeAnn Croft Architecture + Design Ltd.

CA360 Studio Architecture, Planning, Interiors

Bouwen Architecture Ltd.

Mallen Gowing Berzins Architecture Incorporated

Allan Duddridge Architect Ltd.

Cushing Terrell Architecture Inc.

Carcoana Architecture Ltd.

JSA Sport Architecture Inc.

MacKenzie Architecture

MMP Architects Inc.

Studio 20 Two Architecture and Design Ltd.

5468796 Architecture Inc.

Abele Architecture

Kirsten Reite Architect Inc. DBA KRA -  
Kirsten Reite Architecture

Northern Architects, Inc.

Michael J. Habel, Architect

Daniel Johnson Architect Inc.

Stuart Howard Architects Inc.

Left Hand Architecture & Design Inc.

Otto Hammer Architect

William H. Ross Architect Ltd.

Chamberlain Architect Services

John Van Nostrand Architect Limited cob  
Regional Architects

MacLennan Jaunkalns Miller Architects Ltd.

Kirk Banadyga Architect

Zimmer Gunsul Frasca Architects LLP
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Licence to Practice - Reinstatement

Peter A. Gabor Architect

Omicron Architecture Engineering Construction Ltd.

Licence to Practice - Readmitted

Toker + Associates Architecture Industrial Design Ltd.

Dennis Voigt Architect

P. J. Lovick Architect Ltd.

Firm Name Changes

Village North Architecture Inc. to Village North Architecture ULC 

Farrow Partners Architects Inc. to Farrow Architects Inc.

Barr Ryder Architects & Interior Designers to BR2 Architecture

HKS-DN, Inc. to HKS-DN Architects, Inc.

BKDI Architects to Zeidler BKDI Architects

CA360 Studio Architecture, Planning, Interiors to Cite360 Studio Architecture, Planning Interiors  
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COMMITTEE REPORTS
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The Saskatchewan Association of Architects
2014/2015 COMMITTEE STRUCTURE

Council:   Term Expires

President 2014/15 ....................................................................................................Bob Burnyeat, Saskatoon 2016
1st Vice President .......................................................................................................David W. Edwards, Regina 2017
2nd Vice President ......................................................................................................Ray Gosselin, Regina  2016
Secretary-Treasurer ..................................................................................................... Lyle Wiebe, Saskatoon 2015
Past-President .............................................................................................................. Paul Blaser, Saskatoon 2015
Councillor ......................................................................................................................Rob Beug, Regina  2015
Councillor ......................................................................................................................Bernie Flaman, Regina 2017
Councillor ...................................................................................................................... Paul Koopman, Saskatoon 2017
Public Appointee .........................................................................................................Ray Mark, Saskatoon 2017
Public Appointee .........................................................................................................Bruce Sparling, Saskatoon 2016
Executive Director ....................................................................................................... Janelle S. Unrau 

Executive Committees
Architectural Education	.......................................................................... Paul Blaser/Bernie Flaman 
Interprovincial Relations	......................................................................... David	W.	Edwards
Saskatchewan Construction Association Advisory Panel	................... Bob	Burnyeat/David	W.	Edwards
Saskatchewan Construction Panel	........................................................ Bob	Burnyeat/David	W.	Edwards

Practice Committee ...................................................................................................David W. Edwards/Ray Gosselin
Saskatchewan Building & Accessibility Standards Appeals............... Arnold Dobroskay
Saskatchewan	Bid	Depository	Inc.	........................................................ Bob Burnyeat/Alton Tangedal
Municipal	Heritage	Advisory	Committee	-	Regina	............................... Raymond Plosker
Municipal	Heritage	Advisory	Committee	-	Saskatoon	......................... Don Greer
Honourary Corporate Archivist	............................................................... Frank Korvemaker

Education Committee ............................................................................................... Lyle Wiebe/Bernie Flaman
Internship in Architecture Program	....................................................... James McEwen
RAIC Syllabus Program	........................................................................... LeeAnn Croft/Lyle Wiebe
Senate	-	University	of	Regina	................................................................. Bernie Flaman
Senate	-	University	of	Saskatchewan	.................................................... Charles Olfert
Saskatchewan	Polytechnic	-	Architectural	Technologies	.................... Justin Wotherspoon

Communications Committee ..................................................................................Rob Beug/Paul Koopman
Design Council	........................................................................................ Craig Cowan
Prairie Design Awards	............................................................................ Jeff	Howlett
RAIC Regional Director	............................................................................Michael Cox

Past President
Nominations Committee	........................................................................ Paul Blaser 
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Executive Committees

ARCHITECTURAL EDUCATION 

Paul Blaser and Bernie Flaman

Colleagues, we bring you an update on progress toward a distinctive Saskatchewan School of Architecture. The past 
year has been one of significant movement, with many challenges still ahead.

Formation of an Architectural Education Committee

At the AGM in 2014, members re-affirmed enthusiastic support to move forward with enhancing architectural 
education in the province with the ultimate goal being the establishment of a Saskatchewan School of Architecture. 
Following the AGM, a list of members was gathered to volunteer on a committee reporting to Council. That 
committee began meeting in July with direction from Council to keep “all options on the table”, including a renewed 
conversation with the University of Regina, re-engagement with the University of Saskatchewan and a new 
conversation with Saskatchewan Polytechnic (formerly SIAST).

Summary: Meetings held in July and October 2014 and February 2015.

Terms of Reference Document 

Discussions at the first meeting and since have worked to clarify the terms of reference for the committee. The intent 
is to clearly define what the committee is and what it can do, including its strengths and limitations. It was agreed 
that the primary role of the committee is one of advocacy. Another key role is to organize and lead an expression of 
industry support. The committee will need to organize industry advocacy to government for the school. Finally, the 
task force will support the university(s) and Saskatchewan Polytechnic in their internal process to create a school. It is 
recommended that the terms of reference be written for the next three years, at which time they will be revisited. 

Summary: Bernie to create draft.

Vision Document 

The committee undertook to create a vision document for the school. Building on Colin Tennent’s notes, Bernie 
Flaman and Chris Kailing have been working on drafting a vision document. The target audience is the institution(s) 
that will carry forward with developing a school; the document will communicate the SAA’s vision for the school.

Summary: Bernie Flaman and Chris Kailing to create draft. Brad Pickard has also volunteered to provide input.

Discussions with the Institutions

Discussions in the fall of 2014 with the three institutions involved proved very useful. The University of Regina 
indicated interest, however there was not a significant response, nor is there an internal group at the U of R who 
wants to champion further pursuit of the program. However, their new strategic plan identifies collaboration with 
other institutions as a positive indicator.
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The evolution of SIAST into Saskatchewan Polytechnic represents an exciting and fresh direction. Rod Stutt is 
championing the cause internally. The new dean of the Saskatchewan Polytechnic School of Construction, Dennis 
Johnson, met with the task force in September to discuss options. Preliminary investigations had been done with Dave 
Edwards, Justin Wotherspoon and Rod Stutt to understand the terms for a school to be accredited by CACB. At the 
meeting, Dennis Johnson and Rod Stutt indicated full support of a program within their institution, and a strong desire 
to partner with the University of Saskatchewan on a program.

The University of Saskatchewan continues to express strong interest. Colin Tennent, Bruce Sparling and Andrew 
Wallace indicated in September that the recent changes at the executive level at the U of S would be an opportunity to 
make progress at the university.

What is currently happening at the University of Saskatchewan?

In 2009 and 2013 directors of existing schools of architecture visited the U of S and suggested that an interim director 
be hired to develop the academic program and create consensus at the university for the program. The interim 
director position would need to be a full-time position. Momentum for this initiative stalled at that time but has been 
revived this year, with the U of S Provost supporting the creation of the position. The mandate of the interim director 
would be to develop the academic program, build support on campus and co-ordinate with the wider community. 
Expressed in the mandate is the sentiment that the interim director would find opportunities to partner with 
Saskatchewan Polytechnic. The vision document being completed by the SAA committee will be a useful tool to assist 
the interim director with direction for the school and to provide input from the SAA regarding our vision for the school. 

In order for a school of architecture to be approved at the U of S, the program must go through three stages of 
approval. Because it involves a relocation of university resources, the argument should be framed in a way that will 
benefit the university, develop their academic program and be aligned with our vision. The three stages are:

•  Academic Council Approval - members of the faculty who approve the academic program 

• Board of Governor’s Approval - responsible for the financial viability

•  Senate Approval - acts as a liaison and advises about issues within a wider community 

The U of S has identified the cost of an interim director at $267,500 for the first year. This will include:

•  Salary of interim director

•  Salary of staff

•  Other various expenses, including travel

The significance of this step is difficult to overstate. The U of S is investing in creating the necessary work to have a 
school of architecture for the Academic Council, Board of Governors and Senate to approve. This is an investment 
from existing funds; it is thanks in large part to the right people in the right place at the right time.

It is expected that the work of the interim director will take two years. U of S has requested that this sum be matched 
by the SAA to show support and qualify as a commitment for the second year. Current commitment from the SAA 
membership is $120,000. Additional funds may be raised through a variety of avenues, including the involvement of 
University Advancement. Council is moving toward communicating directly with the provost’s office with the goal of 
creating a financial plan. The SAA meets with the U of S Provost on March 31. 
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Summary: SAA Executive to meet with the U of S Provost to ascertain a clear commitment (potential outcome a MOU). 
The SAA is seeking an eventual financial plan that will articulate the specifics of funding from both U of S and SAA.

Meeting with the Minister

On February 9th the SAA met with the new Minister of Advanced Education, Kevin Doherty. Many of the items 
discussed at the meeting were new to the minister, including details from the business plan. He was appreciative at 
the level of detail and structure the SAA had to support the need for a school. He asked all of the right questions: 
What is the role Saskatchewan Polytechnic can take? Why the U of S instead of the U of R? Is there a demand among 
students? Would academics want to teach at the school? Would professionals hire these students?

He was interested in the broader implications of design culture and recognised that there is room for more 
architectural design in the province as Saskatchewan continues to grow. The minister is open to cultural ideas and he 
would be supportive with the right information to bring to cabinet. The minister seemed impressed with the 
commitment of the SAA and particularly with initiatives like the SAA Bursary Program.

Strategy/Plan to Move Forward

Moving forward, a concerted effort will be required to support the work at the university, as well as firmly establish 
the argument to Government. It is expected that in order for a School to come into existence, both the institution(s) 
and government will need to contribute funding.

Making the case to government requires a multi-pronged approach. Organizing an advocacy group consisting of 
industry is something that needs to be discussed and strategized. Data and statistics must be collected in order to 
prove the need for a school of architecture in Saskatchewan. This data will consist of answering questions like: 

•  What is the retention rate in school to graduation? 

•  Where do architects work and where should they be working? 

•  What are their salaries 10 years after graduation? 

•  What does a school of architecture prepare them for?

•  What about non-residents who come here to study? 

It will be important to classify the types of jobs and the fields architectural grads may work in. SIAST students have 
traditionally worked in architectural firms, but are now working for the construction industry. Why? The broad and 
general education culture of Saskatchewan could be stronger with an aesthetic and design influence. What happens 
to community self-image without strong culture? Is it an enriching environment for people to live, work and play in? 

Moving forward, the construction industry in Canada is going to be in some difficulty as a result of the lack of 
architects. Combining the need for a Saskatchewan-based school of architecture with the great benefit that a school 
will bring, the best case must be put forward to both government and the institutions. We need to be prepared to do 
this. That is the ongoing work the committee is undertaking.
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INTERPROVINCIAL RELATIONS

David W. Edwards

On behalf of all members of the profession, your SAA Council Executive and Executive Director have participated in a 
number of meetings during the year to deal with matters that affect the whole of the profession. There are a number 
of committees and task forces that work at the direction of the collective. The Canadian Architectural Licensing 
Authorities (CALA) is made up of all eleven jurisdictions and operates by consensus. They have dealt with a number of 
issues over the year and this report only contains a few of them.

International Relations Committee (IRC) 

The new agreement between the United States (NCARB) has been working for over a year; forty-two states have signed 
onto the agreement with a few others pending. The committee who is monitoring both the agreements has met once this 
year and will meet once in 2015. The Tri-National Mutual Recognition Agreement with Mexico and the United States was 
signed last year. With two Mexican architects successfully completing the process and becoming licensed in the United 
States, the pilot program has been completed. 

The IRC Committee has successfully negotiated a mutual recognition agreement with both Australia and New Zealand. 
The agreement was approved by the each of the eleven regulators and comes into effect in March 2015. The process 
will allow architects from each jurisdiction apply for licensure in any of the three countries. While there are a number 
of economies within the Asia Pacific Economies (APEC) it would appear that only Japan would be another country that 
Canada may entertain an MRA with; discussions have just started.

The committee is also working with the European community to develop an understanding with them to establish if a 
possible agreement can be reached. They are sending a delegation to Canada to continue the discussions.

The Canadian Federal Government has approved the funding application for this work, which expires in March of 
2016. There are many considerations, ranging from education, experience, scope and title, to be considered and the 
committee will be arranging several workshops with the regulators to discuss the issues as they develop. 

Canadian Examination for Architects in Canada (ExAC) Committee 

The exam has completed five sittings since it started with an average pass rate in the high 70%. All sittings have been 
annually in November. Most recently, 561 interns were registered for the exam, representing similar numbers from 
previous years. The committee is currently developing new questions and they are working toward offering the exam 
more than once a year. The exam questions need constant updating to be current with codes and standards of practice. 

To ensure corporate continuity, the ExAC Committee recommended, and subsequently CALA approved, the realigning of 
committee member appointments and extending terms for committee members to three years starting on January 1, 2015.
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Canadian Architectural Certification Board (CACB) Standing Committee 

This is an ongoing committee that is currently working with both the Canadian Schools of Architecture (CCUSA) and the 
board of CACB to complete the review of the 2014 Validation Conference held last September. There were many 
suggestions that came from the conference; the committee is in the process of reviewing and developing a report for a 
consultative process with both the regulators and schools. The process will take some time to complete, hopefully 
wrapping up by the spring of 2016.

The BEFA program has been operational for two years with approximately 216 applicants. Twenty-six applicants have 
been licensed in various jurisdictions across Canada. At the start of the program we had committed to undertaking a 
review of the program, which will be started later this year.

Internship in Architecture Program (IAP) Task Force 

The IAP Task Force is working to further harmonize the IAP across all Canadian jurisdictions. In May 2014, they met 
with a group of interns to receive input on experiences in the program. Outcomes of this meeting have resulted in 
development of standardized supervisor and mentor guidelines to be presented to CALA for approval. 

The IAP is the final educational component to becoming an architect. The outcomes of the 2014 Validation 
Conference will further inform the work of the IAP Task Force to revise the requirements of interns enrolled in the IAP. 
It is anticipated that experience requirements will need to be adjusted and practitioners will be added to the task 
force to inform this process.

Thanks should be given Bob Burnyeat, Ray Gosselin and Janelle Unrau who represented Saskatchewan at these 
meetings and read through a pile of reports. You will hear more from them in their reports and if there are questions I 
would be happy to try and answer them.

SASKATCHEWAN CONSTRUCTION ASSOCIATION ADVISORY PANEL

Bob Burnyeat and David W. Edwards 

The Saskatchewan Construction Association Advisory Panel is made up of industry representatives that work with 
representatives of the provincial government on issues of mutual concern and interest. This year the panel discussed 
several areas of concern to our profession. These include: 

1. Harmonization of the procurement process

This has been a very active file throughout 2014. This project involved a joint working group, consisting of members 
of the Advisory Council and SaskBuilds, which worked to address the need for the inclusion of local knowledge 
provisions in the procurement process in Saskatchewan. Priority Saskatchewan, which is an entity within SaskBuilds, 
has been tasked with ensuring that Saskatchewan-based companies have fair access to provincial procurement. 
Priority Saskatchewan has met with the Advisory Panel to discuss this and is preparing a report that is expected to be 
submitted to the provincial government in early 2015. 
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2. Advancing the case against bundling of public projects

This was an issue that was emphasized, in particular, by several members of the Advisory Panel this past year. Their 
objective was to ensure that government was and is aware of the concerns some industries have with respect to the 
bundling of projects. This group would have also liked to see the government reconsider the bundling of schools.

Many meetings were held in the first nine months of 2014 on this topic and extensive lobbying was undertaken. By 
the end of that nine-month period, it seemed that government understood that bundling presented problems. It also 
became apparent that the government was unlikely to pursue bundling of future projects, in the next few years at 
least. However, the bundling of schools did proceed - albeit in smaller bundles.

The industry still has work to do to educate the government about the potential dangers of bundling, and should 
continue to do this. Efforts should be made in particular with new MLAs following the next provincial election.

3. Preparing for P3s

The Saskatchewan Construction Association (CSA) has been active in providing opportunities for education regarding 
public-private partnerships. These opportunities have included industry discussions on the topic in early 2014 and 
co-hosting the P3 Summit in Regina in fall 2014. The SCA hosted the third annual P3 Summit on April 8 2015, at the 
Delta Hotel in Regina. This third summit delivered more sector-specific content, with a focus on content that is of 
particular interest to the construction sector.

SASKATCHEWAN CONSTRUCTION PANEL

Bob Burnyeat and David W. Edwards 

The Saskatchewan Construction Panel (SCP) is a forum for organizations representing the construction industry to 
meet, together with senior officials from the provincial government, to share information and collaborate to ensure a 
stable and healthy provincial construction industry. SCP meets a minimum of two times per year, typically in Regina.

Purposes:

• To inform government of the challenges and plans of industry participants;

• To provide MLAs and government officials with a better understanding of the construction industry;

• To provide a forum for government to discuss issues with the construction industry at an early stage;

• To identify challenges and propose solutions to industry growth constraints;

• To identify challenges and propose solutions to cost management in public procurement; and

• To inform industry of the status of government projects.
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The SCP is co-chaired by Warren Michelson, MLA, Moose Jaw North representing government and Mark Cooper of the 
Saskatchewan Construction Association. Membership include representatives of the following organizations:

• Consulting Engineers of Saskatchewan

• Crown Investment Corporation of Saskatchewan

• Enterprise Saskatchewan

• Interior Designers Association of Saskatchewan

• Ministry of Advanced Education, Employment  
and Labour 

• Ministry of Central Services

• Ministry of Corrections, Public Safety & Policing

• Ministry of Education

• Ministry of Health

• Ministry of Highways & Infrastructure

• Public Works and Government Services Canada

• Saskatchewan Apprenticeship and Trade 
Certification Commission

• Saskatchewan Association of Architects

• Saskatchewan Buildings & Construction  
Trades Council

• Saskatchewan Construction Association

• Saskatchewan Heavy Construction Association

• Saskatchewan Housing Corporation

• SaskEnergy

• SaskPower

Decisions are made by consensus, which is defined as agreement reached by all representatives present at the 
meeting. This agreement does not mean that each representative is supportive of the recommendation presented, 
but that no one is fundamentally opposed and that each member can live with the decision, despite some 
differences of opinion.

The SAA has been actively attending SCP meetings to bring the concerns of our members to the attention of industry 
members and government representatives. Bob Burnyeat, Dave Edwards and Janelle Unrau have been the SAA 
representatives to date. One project that the panel members have been working on and the SAA has provided input 
into is standardizing procurement practices and documents across government. There appears to be a desire by 
government to move to best value procurement practices. Government has been made fully aware of the SAA’s 
concerns regarding procurement issues and issues such as bundling of school projects into P3s. Government, in turn, 
has made industry aware of its concerns regarding labour issues and succession planning, project cost escalation 
and risk management.

Some representative organizations, such as the consulting engineers, are satisfied with the professional services 
agreements they have with government, particularly in the area of road building. Representatives of the panel have 
identified a need for consultants to provide services on small projects in rural Saskatchewan, as well as a perceived 
lack of LEAN consultants in Saskatchewan.

The SAA will continue its participation on the SCP to bring the issues that our members believe are of concern to 
architects in Saskatchewan.
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Practice

PRACTICE COMMITTEE 

David W. Edwards and Ray Gosselin

Once again this past year the committee has had a long list of items and in particular we would like to thank both Bob 
Burnyeat and Whitney Robson in aiding this committee through many of the issues. It must be recognized that the 
responsibility for the Saskatchewan Association of Architects is the administration of The Architects Act, 1996 and as 
such it involves the protection of the public. 

The Practice Committee and administrative staff have been working closely to continue to ensure that all bylaw 
requirements for practicing architecture in Saskatchewan are met and documented. Second, we continue to review 
current, common practice issues, comparing them to practices in other jurisdictions and developing new practice 
bulletins and council policies to ensure that SAA members are conducting their services in a manner that is consistent 
with the SAA Act and Bylaws. 

Much of this work has been undertaken by members of Council, the staff in the office and volunteers from the 
profession. We have also met with the engineers to discuss issues of mutual concern and currently sit on several 
government committees working with the industry to better understand the profession.

What has been done this past year:

• Council Policies on ‘Membership Renewals’ and ‘Licence to Practice Renewals’ developed, as well as renewal 
forms revisited to reflect changes 

• Council Policy on ‘Architectural Corporations and Firms’ in progress 

• Implementation of changes that resulted from amendments to Bylaws 12 and 13 (relating to corporations and 
firms) underway; legal counsel has been engaged to advise on procedures specific to partnerships of 
corporations and the SAA’s requirements for these entities 

• Council Policy on ‘Naming Conventions’ currently in development

• Discussion relating to specific issues regarding member firms and practice-related issues as well as non-
members and entities infringing on the practice of architecture

• Further work on preventing and dealing with cases of unlicensed practice of architecture in the province, in 
conjunction with SAA legal counsel

• Answers provided to numerous members and prospective members regarding practice issues 

• Discussion with government on the topic of procurement; feedback provided on proposed procurement 
guidelines 

• Prepared a package of bylaw amendments to be presented to SAA members at 2015 AGM 
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What is currently underway over the 2015 SAA year:

• Project to further define the scope of practice of an architect undertaken with SAA legal counsel

• Continued discussion with the provincial government and construction industry partners on topics of mutual 
concern. Currently, this includes on-going discussions about procurement and standardization of contract 
documents 

• Continued work on miscellaneous SAA bylaw amendments in an effort to further clarify requirements for 
registered members and licensed corporations and firms

• Development of processes surrounding implementation of SAA temporary licence 

• Continued responses to requests for input on practice related issues from members, clients and government bodies

The Practice Committee appreciates the valuable research, input and guidance provided by SAA administrative staff 
and various members at large.

SASKATCHEWAN BUILDING AND ACCESSIBILITY STANDARDS APPEAL BOARD

Arnold Dobroskay

The Saskatchewan Building and Accessibility Standards (SBAS) Appeal Board continues to hear appeals by building 
owners related to building official orders and requested exemptions from accessibility standards. Over the years 
appeals have ranged from orders related to seasonal dwellings to owners of northern mining facilities requesting 
exemptions from the accessibility requirements. 

Recent appeals have, for the most part, been related to contraventions by owners who were not aware of the code 
requirements and then, through the appeal process, attempted to have the order reversed or relaxed. In this past 
year we have noticed fewer appeals related to poorly written orders from building officials. The Chief Building Official 
of Saskatchewan has worked with the building officials to improve the writing of orders, and this appears to have 
had a positive result in fewer appeals.

Current SBAS Appeal Board Members:

MEMBER AFFILIATION

Arnold Dobraskay (Chair) Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Keith Hanson (Vice Chair) Saskatchewan Home Builders’ Association

Leonard Gendall (Secretary)  Saskatchewan Government Services  

Helen Christensen  Interior Designers Association of Saskatchewan

Jake Meyer Saskatchewan Urban Municipalities Association

Michael Sazynski Saskatchewan Applied Science Technologists and Technicians
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SASKATCHEWAN BID DEPOSITORY INC. 

Bob Burnyeat and Alton Tangedal

The Saskatchewan Bid Depository Incorporated (SBDI) is made up of a group of volunteers from the various 
construction-related associations within the province, including two members of the SAA.

The committee met regularly throughout 2014 and concluded the year at their AGM on February 18, 2015.

Their mission statement is as follows:

		To	promote	the	use	of	the	SBDI	Bid	Depository	System.	The	system	is	a	bid	collection	process,	which	seeks	to	
provide	fair	representation	to	subcontractors,	general	contractors	and	owners.

The SBDI came into existence in 1966 and has been an active part of the construction industry during its life time, 
however, over the last several years it has experienced a steady decline in usage which actually leaves this 
organization wondering where its future will be. Under the direction of SBDI President Fraser Sutherland and the 
entire board, they have been searching for a way to sustain and revitalize the use of the SBDI in our industry. The 
decline has been traced to several reasons including general contractor preference not to use the system, as well as 
young professionals in the industry being unfamiliar with the benefit and the function of the SBDI as a benefit to the 
tender process. In the coming year the SBDI will work towards further educating our industry and others on the 
benefits and advantages to the tender process.

The SBDI, in an effort to plan for the future, has looked to partners in CANet (another board within the provincial 
construction associations) to consider amalgamation. This joining of the groups would create a more sustainable 
broad-reaching organization.

The SBDI encourages our membership to explore the SDBI further and take any opportunities to educate yourself and 
others in the use of this system to enhance the bidding process and to make sure that you use the system to your 
benefit. Additionally, the SDBI has recommended that although we, as designers, are often approached with 
questions regarding trade definitions - we should direct anyone asking the questions to contact the SBDI or their 
respective trade associations for answers. The SBDI rule 4.4.1.3 specifically requires the trade to understand their 
trade scope without exception.

The SBDI website has been provided with all information and rules associated with it’s use and it’s reference is 
encouraged. The website can be found at: (www.sbdi.ca).
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MUNICIPAL HERITAGE ADVISORY COMMITTEE - REGINA 

Raymond Plosker

The Regina Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee (MHAC) reports to the Regina Planning Commission. MHAC is 
authorized to advise on any matter arising out of The Heritage Property Act. For the 2014 year we started out with nine 
members sitting on the committee. Terms for all except one member expired at the end of 2014 (including the writer). 
Two members resigned at the end of their terms leaving only seven of the thirteen possible positions on the 
committee. As of January 2015 the advisory committees of the city are not meeting due to a City Committee Structure 
Review. This review is expected to be complete by the end of February 2015. We will have to see what 
recommendations have been adopted for the make up and role of MHAC. 

The thirteen members of the committee include representatives from:

• A member of City Council (currently John Findura)

• Community Planning Association of Canada

• Heritage Regina

• Regina and District Chamber of Commerce

• RCMP Heritage Museum

• Regina Multicultural Council

• Regina Plains Museum

• Regina Public Library (Prairie History Collection)

• Saskatchewan Association of Architects

• Saskatchewan Association of Landscape Architects

• Three members of the general public who are residents of the city

Chair of MHAC for 2014 was Joe Ralko. You will know him as the former editor of Worth magazine.

Some of the activities and items that came before MHAC this year included:

The City of Regina has provided a follow up report and recommendation for the Regina Indian Industrial School 
Cemetery, located on Pinkie Road, within the city limits. MHAC had requested the city administration to facilitate 
discussions with stakeholders of this site to determine how best to preserve and commemorate the site. It was 
thought that this would be a natural bridge to the First Nations and Metis stakeholders. The city’s report contained four 
options. Unfortunately MHAC could not support the city’s recommended action, which was essentially to have the 
landowner be responsible for maintenance of the grass border around the property. The property is currently 
protected under The Cemeteries Act, 1999.

Presentations were heard from groups interested in preserving the Connaught School. MHAC made recommendation 
to Council to have the building designated. However, this was not supported by City Council. A new school will be built 
on the site of the Connaught School. The discussion over the designation demonstrated the need for better 
communication between the city and the school board. It also highlighted the important role that many of the older 
school buildings play in defining a neighbourhood and the value of keeping these heritage buildings in good repair. 
The school was demolished and a new school will be built on the property incorporating some physical elements of 
the former school. 



32

The Patton Residence, located at 2398 Scarth Street was designated municipal heritage status. This is a prominent 
building on College Avenue that was designed by the architectural firm of Portnall and Clemesha. It is a good example 
of Georgian revival style in residential architecture.

MHAC heard further presentation on the proposed alterations to the Royal Canadian Legion Branch No. 1 building. 
This historic building is home to the oldest chartered branch of the Legion in Canada. The entrance hall of the building 
contains an historic Peace Tower with murals by Regina artist Kenneth Lochhead. It will continue to function to serve 
the needs of this branch of the Royal Canadian Legion.

Members of MHAC were asked to provide presentations to the Finance Committee in support of an enhanced heritage 
incentive program proposed by the city administration. This was the culmination of a study by Coriolis Consulting that 
included meetings with stakeholder groups, developers, architects and others. The first application under the new 
expanded incentive program was made early in 2015 for what is now called the Viterra Building on the corner of Albert 
Street and Victoria Avenue. 

A working group was set up to review the evaluation criteria and categories for the Municipal Heritage Awards. This 
group has not completed its task yet and will resume meeting pending the reactivation of MHAC in 2015.

Representatives of MHAC attended the Heritage Saskatchewan Forum in February and the National Heritage 
Conference in November.

MHAC reviewed submissions for the 2014 Municipal Heritage Awards. Three awards will be presented at a ceremony 
held during Heritage Week in February of 2015. The awards help focus community attention on the importance of our 
heritage and the unique contributions of the award winners. 

MUNICIPAL HERITAGE ADVISORY COMMITTEE - SASKATOON

Don Greer

2014 was my second year of a two-year appointment to MHAC. I have since been reappointed for a second two-year 
term by the SAA. 

2014 saw a number of activities and actions taken by MHAC, some of which may be of interest to the SAA’s 
membership: 

The city created the Heritage Plan companion document. The plan was a compilation of the information contained in the 
earlier Heritage Policy and Program Review. The Heritage Plan outlined the expected zoning bylaw amendments regarding 
vacant lots use and an incentive program. As a board member I put forward a number a comments and suggested 
improvements to the Heritage Plan, but as a number of copies of the plan had been printed and circulated prior to the 
committee’s review, the city proceeded with distribution as presented. As a result of the Heritage Plan, the MHAC has 
drafted a set of goals and objectives that it wishes to achieve with respect to the plan. It is expected that these goals and 
objectives will be measured along with the city’s efforts to achieve its plan. In addition to the roll out of the Heritage Plan, 
summer students were hired to create heritage brochures. I offered to review such but was not called on. 
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The Heritage Awards were made in February. These awards are given out every second year during Heritage Week. 
I sat on the selection committee and again provided a number of comments. It was apparent that almost any 
nomination would be considered for an award. This has resulted in a review of the criteria and process for future 
awards. Award winning projects included:

• Nutana Collegiate Institute - Exterior Renovation

• Affinity Credit Union Campus - Adaptive Reuse and Sensitive Addition

• A.L. Pump-house - Honourable Mention, Exterior Restoration

• Designation of the city’s Cardener’s Site was recommended by MHAC.

• The Moose Jaw Trail Park was recommended for the Lieutenant Governor Award for heritage and received the 
award. 

• The Knox United Church received funding under the Heritage Conservation Program to repair the roof.

• The McLean Block (263 3rd Avenue South) received funding under the Heritage Conservation Program for 
facade rehabilitation and window replacement.

The annual Heritage Festival took place February 2, 2014 and was attended by over 2,900 people; I volunteered at 
the event.

A proposal to erect a cell tower in the Forestry Farm Park was presented to MHAC and concerns were expressed 
regarding the proposal and the notification process, resulting in a request from MHAC to change the Antenna 
Systems Policy. This resulted in an amendment to the policy.

Four heritage publications were undertaken and the articles included in Saskatoon Express.

The Capitol Theatre Artifact Inventory Project was completed and the inventory was posted on the city’s webpage.

The MHAC received information on the city’s new Facade Conservation & Enhancement Grant. Application forms and 
this information is available on the city’s web-page.

MHAC was asked to review and provide input into the new 1812 War monument. I participated on behalf of the 
MHAC and attended the unveiling of the monument by Prince Edward. 

Two properties, one at 1102 Spadina Crescent and the other at 803 9th Avenue North, came before the MHAC for 
Municipal Heritage Designation and were recommended to be approved. The process for the bylaw designation will 
proceed during 2015. I, as an architect and private citizen, will oppose the designation of the 1102 Spadina Crescent 
dwelling as I feel the process and the resulting renovations are not reflective of the standards for architectural 
heritage preservation and conservation. I have also expressed concern to the SAA with regard to planners with the 
city and the suggestion that the MHAC provide recommendations with respect to architectural heritage renovations. 

In my first two-year term as an appointee to the MHAC, it became apparent that much of the work of the Municipal 
Heritage Advisory Committee was just that “advisory”. During my next term I will endeavour to ensure that the goals 
and objectives developed by the MHAC are adopted and acted on in parallel with those identified in the city’s 
Heritage Plan. 
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HONOURARY CORPORATE ARCHIVIST 

Frank Korvemaker

Historical Background

Architecture and architects have been the subject of research and study for thousands of years, probably as long as 
the profession has existed. People are fascinated by the men and women who design buildings, and by the structures 
that have come from their creative minds. Most of the Wonders of the World are works designed by ancient architects.

In Saskatchewan, with its relatively young architectural history, the oldest confirmed buildings designed by a formally 
trained architect were erected at Fort Livingstone, near present-day Pelly in 1874. The complex of about 15 buildings 
was constructed to accommodate both the North-West Mounted Police detachment overlooking the Swan River and 
the first resident Lieutenant-Governor of the North-West Territories, David Laird. The structures were designed by staff 
of the federal Department of Public Works, under the direction of the Chief Architect for Canada, Thomas S. Scott. 

During the subsequent 36 years, architects and other building designers working in present day Saskatchewan 
followed no established criteria or rules for designing buildings, and people who commissioned drawings did so at 
their own risk. After the Saskatchewan Association of Architects was established in 1911 through an Act of the 
Government of Saskatchewan, only people who had formally registered with the Association were permitted to design 
buildings of any substance. As a result, most building designers and people with limited architectural training either 
ceased to prepare drawings, or acquired work as draftsmen with fully accredited architects. 

Saskatchewan Archives Board Agreements

 Since 1911, the SAA has not only overseen registration of architectural practice in Saskatchewan, but has 
accumulated a considerable volume of documents relating to its own operation. In 2010 an agreement was reached 
whereby the Saskatchewan Archives Board (SAB) would acquire over 50 boxes of defunct records of the Association, 
primarily the registration applications and the day-to-day business records of the SAA, including Council minutes, 
correspondence, financial records and photographs. An initial transfer of some 29 banker boxes was made in 2010, 
and a further 26 boxes were delivered to the Saskatchewan Archives Board (SAB) in 2014, as well as some oversized 
material, such as mounted photographs.

On August 21, 2013, SAA Council approved another agreement with the Saskatchewan Archives, whereby the SAA 
and the SAB would collaborate in preparing a detailed set of box lists, under the direction of Frank Korvemaker, a 
former Appraisal Archivist with the SAB, and an Honorary Member of the SAA. The intent of these box lists is to provide 
an interim process for electronically searching the SAA records until such time as the SAB is in a position to undertake 
formal processing of the entire collection.

Lost Council Minutes

The first series of Council minutes, starting in 1912, are missing. They were bound in a hard cover legal-sized ledger, 
and may have been borrowed by a member wishing to undertake some research on the early history of the Association. 
I encourage members to search through their memories and their files, especially dead files, to see if these minutes 
were inadvertently boxed away some time during the past quarter century. It is most important that these minutes be 
found, as they present the only known record of the Associations’ official deliberations and operations during the first 
quarter century of its existence.
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Observations

In addition to routine administrative records, the SAA collection also includes information relating to 
communications with its other provincial counterparts, as well as with the Royal Architectural Institute of Canada 
(RAIC). There also exist a small number of records that deal with complaints to Council about a person practicing 
without being a registered SAA member, or about a member not playing quite by the rules. In rare instances they 
include legal action.

The initiative to solicit business cards is off to a slow start, less than a handful has been received. It is hoped that 
more will be submitted during 2015. An alternate source for information on who worked in an architect office has 
been found in the letterheads. These account for many of the images currently being scanned.

The work at the archives is never boring, and often most enlightening. It is a great way to spend part of my 
retirement time, and keeps me in touch with matters relating to Saskatchewan’s architectural heritage. It has also 
answered a substantial number of questions that have been at the back of my mind for decades about specific 
architects or their projects. 

Finally, the co-operation I receive from both the SAA and Saskatchewan Archives staff is greatly appreciated and cannot 
be better.
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Education

EDUCATION COMMITTEE

Lyle Wiebe and Bernie Flaman

The past year has been eventful for the Education Committee, ensuring a strong education delivery process for the 
membership. Increased responsibilities are anticipated, delivering more education-related opportunities such as 
the proposed school of architecture at the University of Saskatchewan. Education, after all, enables architects to 
keep current, master new knowledge and skills, plan for the future and responsibly meet the role society entrusts to 
our professionals.

The Education Committee has proactively engaged in the following programs:

• Mandatory Continuing Education Program 

• 2014 Bursary Program

• ExAC; IAP/CERB

• RAIC Syllabus Program

Mandatory Continuing Education Program

Continuing Education (Con Ed) is a mandatory requirement for all registered architects practicing architecture in the 
Province of Saskatchewan. It is an important element in the SAA’s status as a self-regulated, professional association. 
The Education Committee, on an ongoing basis, reviews numerous education opportunities for core credits. Between 
the beginning of the current two-year education cycle on July 1 2014 and the time of writing this report, applications 
were approved for 50.5 core credits.

June 30, 2014 saw the end of the previous two-year continuing education cycle and the beginning of the next two-
year cycle (July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2016). After analyzing the results of the past cycle, it was decided that the 
members would benefit from clearer instruction on the details of Con Ed. To this end, the committee has undertaken 
edits and revisions to the Con Ed Manual with two main goals in mind: one, to more easily access key details of the 
program and second, to more closely align the manual with what one sees on the Transcript of Continuing Education 
Credits website, transcripts.raic.org. 

It is the desire of the committee to begin to identify on-line opportunities for core learning credits.

2015 Bursary Program 

In order to encourage the growth of a vibrant profession, the SAA Bursary Award Program continued this year. The 
program is for graduates of a qualifying architectural degree program. The deadline for submissions was March 1, 
2015. The Education Committee chooses bursary recipients annually. Each qualifying recipient receives a bursary 
award for $10,000. The bursary award, in the form of a repayable reward, is forgiven when the recipient completes 
three years of internship and employment in Saskatchewan. Internship requirements are directly specified by the 
Canadian Architectural Licensing Authority (CALA) Internship in Architecture Program, and specifically Appendix B - 
Saskatchewan. The IAP documents are available at www.saskarchitects.com
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Since the program began, a total of 17 interns have been awarded bursaries. Of the 17, two were awarded in 2014, 
one to Sam Farthing on June 6, and one to Luke Ryalls on July 29. Financially, SAA reserves no longer fund this program.

ExAC Program

The SAA administers the Canadian Examination for Architecture (ExAC) once annually. The ExAC is an experience-based 
examination based upon a set of general and specific objectives developed, reviewed and approved at the outset by 
a selected group of experienced architects from three founding parties: (OAA, OAQ and AAA). These objectives define 
the areas and level of knowledge used to demonstrate competencies of the architectural profession.

Ten SAA Interns sat the ExAC examinations in 2014. There are four sections to the exam and eight interns passed all 
four sections.

2014 CACB Conference: Educating Future Architects

The SAA was able to send several delegates, including the Education Committee, to the CACB Validation Conference, 
September 26 - 27, in Saint-Sauveur, Quebec. Thirteen years have passed since the last validation conference. 
Two days of working sessions were held bringing together stakeholders across the profession to discuss the future of 
education for architectural professionals. The conference objectives were to influence:

• Future changes to the conditions and procedures for accreditation, and

• Future changes in the Internship in Architecture Program and process of becoming an architect in Canada

Based on a request for papers from across the country, the conference committee formulated a number of key 
questions that the delegates discussed over the two-day conference. These questions were grouped into four themes:

• Theme 1: Changing Context of Architectural Practice and Education

• Theme 2: Schools and Firms as Educational Partners

• Theme 3: Accreditation

• Theme 4: Internship

The conference report is available in pdf form at: http://www.cacb-ccca.ca/documents/2014_CACB-CCCA_
Conference_Report.pdf

INTERNSHIP IN ARCHITECTURE PROGRAM

Jim McEwen

The Internship in Architecture Program (IAP) continues to fulfill its role to assist intern architects to develop their 
experience, knowledge and skills as they work towards registration as full, registered members of the Saskatchewan 
Association of Architects. There are currently 41 individuals enrolled in the program.  

A total of 39 interns are making ongoing Canadian Experience Record Book (CERB) submissions, 13 from Regina and 
23 from Saskatoon.  An additional 3 people are reporting as Syllabus - Part II students. Two interns achieved full SAA 
membership in 2014.



38

The IAP relies heavily on the participation of supervising architects. These individuals guide and support the interns 
on a daily basis in the working environment, ensuring practical architectural experience is gained in the transition 
from education to practice. Mentor architects meet regularly with the interns, to provide guidance regarding career 
objectives and broader issues related to the profession. Both roles are integral to the IAP process. Participating 
members are encouraged to remain familiar with the requirements of the program. The SAA appreciates the ongoing 
efforts of all participants.

The option of taking the Examination for Architects in Canada (ExAC) has remained the preferred approach among SAA 
Interns in 2014. Ten candidates have written some or all of the ExAC exams this year and no interns have written the 
NCARB exams.

The results for Saskatchewan candidates who wrote the exam sections in November 2014 are as follows:

ExAC PASS FAIL

Section 1 7 2

Section 2 9 1

Section 3 9 1

Section 4 10 0

RAIC SYLLABUS PROGRAM

LeeAnn Croft and Lyle Wiebe

The mission of the RAIC Syllabus Program is to provide architectural education nationally through practical experience 
and courses of study. The program is for aspiring and current members of the profession as well as members of the 
public with a personal interest in architecture.

The Syllabus Program in Saskatchewan is typically a small, but well supported one. In recent years we have seen 
approximately five to six students registered across both the north and south jurisdictions in the province. 

The following registrations were seen for the winter and fall 2014 terms: 

RAIC Syllabus, 2014 Term 1, Winter 

NAME CITY STUDIO

Jessica Gibson Regina D4

Maret Johnson Saskatoon D6

Sarah Robertson Saskatoon D6
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RAIC Syllabus, 2014 Term 1, Fall  

NAME CITY STUDIO/COURSES

Nathan Brenner Regina Registered

Jessica Gibson Regina ARCH420, ARCH340, ARCH350, ARCH300

Maret Johnson Saskatoon Registered

Sarah Robertson Saskatoon TH3

We are pleased to note that in addition to those listed above, 2015 registrations show three new additions into the 
program, two of whom will be commencing D1 in the spring term.

The coordinators, Lyle Wiebe and LeeAnn Croft, would like to extend a big thank you to all of those who participated 
as mentors and critics in 2014 and would encourage anyone interested in participating in either of these roles to contact 
us for further information. Members may receive up to 10 hours of self-directed Con Ed credits for their contribution in 
each 48-month cycle.

The following continue to be topics of discussion amongst coordinators at the national level and will form the basis for 
discussion for the meetings in June:

1.   Approval of the Hillel Work Experience Manual

2.   Approval of the updated studio program and Athabasca University studio and course numbering system  

3.   Advanced Standing protocol for studio courses  

4.   Advanced Standing protocol for work experience

5.   CACB referrals and BEFA candidates; processes and responsibilities  

6.   Protocol for commencing the thesis stage of the Syllabus program 

7.   Protocol and definitions for General Interest Students (Athabasca has commenced a stream for General   
 Interest Students now that their BSc program is up and running)

8.   Protocol for studio evaluation and recommendations: Appeals  

9.   Protocol for studio and course work leaves of absence for personal or working situations  

10. Remuneration for coordinators and mentors? Possible Con Ed designation for faculty to be recognized by the  
 regulators in a meaningful way 

Finally, on an exciting note the national office of the Syllabus Program is launching a pilot project that will be delivered 
through its Edmonton studio, and which will be supported by our academic partners at the RAIC Centre of Architecture 
at Athabasca University in Edmonton. 

The following is an excerpt from the February 6, 2015, Director’s newsletter from Syllabus Director David Craddock, 
Subject: Syllabus Pilot Studio Project, Term 1 of 2015 - incorporating the “Virtual Studio”. 

“… I will now outline the purpose of the pilot program, its objectives this coming term, and its 
expected	progression	throughout	the	entire	Syllabus	program	as	well	as	its	impact	on	the	BSc.	
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(Arch)	program	and	PBDA	Diploma	programs	that	are	being	offered	by	Athabasca	for	General	
Interest	students.	
Syllabus Program Objective: The delivery of the Syllabus studio programs over the years has often 
incorporated technologies to accommodate students who are unable to travel weekly to their 
“in-person”	studio	due	to	extensive	travel	distances,	local	weather	conditions,	ongoing	work	
situations	or	other	extenuating	circumstances.	This	has	taken	the	form	of	conference	calls,	fax	and	
email	transmissions	and	early	attempts	at	video	conferencing.	Several	existing	studios	have	been	
using more modern versions of video conferencing (Skype and Adobe Connect) that is available to 
the	students	and	the	local	Studio	through	their	work	environment	in	daily	Architectural	practice.	
The objective in 2015 is to run a pilot studio that will mix both regular Syllabus students in the 
“in-person”	environment	with	a	pilot	cohort	of	Syllabus	students	who	will	participate	weekly	online	
using an Abode Connect system provided and operated by our academic partners at Athabasca 
University	through	the	RAIC	Centre	of	Architecture	at	Athabasca.	This	pilot	studio	will	also	include	
several	students	from	the	Athabasca	General	Interest	stream	from	the	BSc.	(Arch)	program	
designation	according	to	normal	Syllabus	program	procedures.	Their	successful	completion	will	
receive appropriate Syllabus course credit which will also be then given advanced standing within 
the	RAIC	Centre’s	program	for	General	Interest	students.	These	students	can	then	continue	along	
to the upper studio streams in either the Syllabus licensure stream or within the Athabasca 
General	Interest	program	stream.”

We have been running a similar program in the Saskatchewan studios using Adobe Connect for the past four years to 
foster collaboration between design studios split across the two cities. In the model we have developed however, students 
meet in person with their mentor in addition to connecting virtually with studio participants in the other city. We look 
forward to seeing how technology will continue to evolve the delivery of architectural education across the country.

SENATE - UNIVERSITY OF REGINA

Bernie Flaman

This is my second year of a first term as Saskatchewan Association of Architects representative on the University of 
Regina Senate. Three meetings were held in 2014, on February 8, June 4 and October 17. I was not able to attend the 
October meeting due to illness, but have reviewed the minutes.

Highlights of the February meeting included an update on the progress of the new residence building noting that it 
was on schedule to receive students in September 2015 for the start of the 2015-16 academic year. It will have 605 
beds, structured parking for 105 cars and 90 child care spaces. Senate members were encouraged to advocate for 
human rights through the months of February and March and a motion was passed to request the City of Regina to fly 
the rainbow flag. A theme for the entire year of 2014 was the development of a new strategic plan. Joe Piwowar was 
appointed to lead the development of the five-year plan. Total headcounts for the University of Regina system saw year 
over year increases in fall 2013 of 3%, reaching 13,626 students, up from 11,993 in fall 2009, representing an 
increase of 14%. President Timmons has indicated that the period of enrolment growth will end in the next few years 
and the university will enter a period of stabilization.

The June meeting saw President Timmons present a budget update reporting U of R’s 20th consecutive balanced 
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budget. The budget allowed the university to find efficiencies while increasing the amount of investment in key areas 
of need such as research, teaching and student support. The portion of the university’s budget that is publicly funded 
will dip below the 50% mark in the coming years as public funding remains at the same level while costs rise. 

Presentations on the strategic plan included the following six preliminary themes/categories: Scholarship, Partnership 
and Community, Sustainability and Efficiency, Student Experience, Diversity and Inclusion, and Reputation and Pride. 
The strategic plan dominated discussion at both the June and October meetings and is now finalized. The name 
chosen for the plan is “peyak aski kikawinaw, Together We Are Stronger”. One item in the strategic plan, which may be 
relevant to a future school of architecture, is a commitment to communities, which includes collaboration with other 
educational institutions. It is viewed as a performance indicator for the university. 

SENATE - UNIVERSITY OF SASKATCHEWAN

Charles Olfert

My appointment to the University of Saskatchewan Senate began on July 1, 2014, replacing Ann March, who served 
the maximum, two consecutive, three-year terms. She deserves a big thank you from the SAA for her effective 
representation and the excellent orientation that she provided.

In September, I was appointed to the Senate Executive Committee. This includes the chancellor (Blaine Favel), the 
University President (Dr. Gordon Barnhart) and seven other senators. This is an important opportunity as this group 
sets the agenda for senate meetings. It was the Executive Committee that was instrumental in placing the school of 
architecture on the agenda for the October 18 meeting.

The senate is one of the three governing bodies of the U of S. The group consists of more than 80 senators 
representing each of the professions, the U of S alumni through 14 districts, several members at large and 
representatives of the student body. The Minister of Advanced Education, deans of the colleges, the president of the 
univerity, and provost are ex officio members. 

The senate deals with public issues. The other two governing bodies are the University Council (academics) and the 
Board of Governors (financial management). The senate has regular meetings only twice a year (spring and fall) so 
there is a substantial amount of information to read for each of these. My first meeting was October 18, 2014. 

This was the first senate meeting since the June leadership crisis (resignation of provost and termination of president) 
The new president and provost made it clear that the “Transform US” process has now been stopped and that there is 
an opportunity for a fresh start with more collaboration. The projected financial deficit has essentially been addressed 
and the university is moving forward based on eight new priorities and achievements in six signature areas. 

A school of architecture would fit well with U of S priorities and there is renewed interest that was reflected in a rare 
opportunity being provided for a specific senate presentation on a University of Saskatchewan School of 
Architecture. This topic was selected from a relatively long list. It was an opportunity for Ernie Barber (Provost), Colin 
Tennent (VP Facilities) and Charles Olfert (SAA representative) to present information about this initiative. The 
presentation included work completed to date, the need, comments about the level of professional and community 
support, the opportunity at the John Deere plow building and recent interest in collaboration with Saskatchewan 
Polytechnic (formerly SIAST). 

Other items of note included an election to replace Susan Milburn with Joy Crawford as the senate representative to 
the board of governors, approval of new policy in several areas, and a discussion of the search process to replace the 
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acting provost and president. Considerable care is being taken and it is not likely that a new president would be in 
place until 2016 with an appointment of the provost to follow. 

The next meeting will be April 25, 2015. 

SASKATCHEWAN POLYTECHNIC - ARCHITECTURAL TECHNOLOGIES

Justin Wotherspoon

Program Evolution  

This year saw SIAST completing its evolution to Saskatchewan Polytechnic. The Architectural and Building 
Technologies program is now known simply as Architectural Technologies, and forms part of the new School of 
Construction at Saskatchewan Polytechnic. This rebranding accompanies the school’s new mandate to offer 
bachelor degree programs. 

Degree Programs  

The first offering of this type will be a degree in Construction Management. This degree program will be available for 
student admission within approximately two years. A bachelor degree in architecture, developed in concert with a 
university-level master’s degree program, has also been contemplated for development as an alternative to a fully 
university-based architectural program.

Program Intake and Employment  

Currently 35 students are enrolled in the first year of the program, 32 are on a work term at time of writing and 25 are 
in their final semester of study. Most graduates are employed, however, there has been a noticeable decline in the 
number of co-operative education work term placements available for students still enrolled in the program. 

SAA Assistance  

The SAA remains an important part of the program at Saskatchewan Polytechnic. SAA member Rod Stutt remains as 
program head, architects Bernie Flaman, Patricia Glanville and Paul Koopman are currently participating as occasional 
lecturers and guest critics, while SAA members also volunteer time to sit on the program’s advisory board. The 
association also contributes annually to the ‘SAA Saskatchewan Advantage Opportunity and Innovation Scholarship’ 
which is awarded to a full-time student in the Architecture and Building Technologies Diploma Program at 
Saskatchewan Polytechnic. The program thanks the SAA for their continued support. 

Accreditation  

The accreditation granted to the program by the American Council for Construction Education is expected to be 
renewed in summer 2015. 
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Communications

COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE

Rob Beug and Paul Koopman

The Communications Committee was involved in a number of areas over the past year, most notably the ongoing work 
to develop a new website for the SAA. This has proven to be a very long process however we have made significant 
progress. Our committee has worked with communications specialist Christina Weese in developing the website 
content, which has now been reviewed and further developed by the SAA staff. We are now working with the web 
designers, Herrainco, in putting the content into the actual design of the site.

This year we also worked with Christian Jensen Communications Design in redesigning the SAA Certificate of Practice 
to reflect the new look of the SAA logo. Council has decided to keep the historic look of the Member’s Certificate, but 
we are working on updating the look of the SAA Fee Schedule document. We are also working with the SAA staff to 
develop a style guide for members who wish to utilize the SAA logo or seal in their communications.

Another project that has been discussed is engaging a public relations firm to help us with the promotion of architecture 
and the profession in Saskatchewan. We are developing the goals of this project, as well as terms of reference, which 
will be reviewed with Council.

Working with SAA staff on the newsletter communications that are issued to members has been an ongoing activity. 
We are also creating a terms of reference for the Communications Committee which will clarify our responsibilities as 
well as those of the sub-committees who report to us. 

DESIGN COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN

Craig Cowan

The Design Council of Saskatchewan is the collective voice of six associations representing design professionals working 
in the disciplines of architecture, community planning, engineering, graphic design, interior design and landscape 
architecture. The Design Council was established to promote public awareness and understanding of applied design. 
Hosting Design Week is the major initiative of the Council and it is held every two years and is an open invitation to 
the public to learn about the different areas of design through a speaker series and awards program. You can read 
more about it at: www.designcouncil.sk.ca or on Facebook at designweeksk.

The next Design Week is scheduled to take place from November 2-6, 2015 in Saskatoon. Firms are encouraged to 
submit built work from the past two years and enter the awards program this fall. Further information will be available 
in the spring.
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PRAIRIE DESIGN AWARDS

Jeff Howlett 

Every two years the Alberta Association of Architects (AAA), the Saskatchewan Association of Architects (SAA) and the 
Manitoba Association of Architects (MAA) celebrate those setting new standards of creativity and skill in architecture 
and interior design. This year’s event, which took place on May 28, 2014, was hosted and organized by the Manitoba 
Association of Architects in conjunction with the RAIC Festival of Architecture. The categories included: Recent Work, 
Interior Design, Small Projects and Landscape Architecture. 

Jury Members were:

• Russell Acton, Acton Ostry Architects Inc.
• Elaine Cecconi, Cecconi Simone Inc.
• Heather Dubbeldam, DUBBELDAM Architecture + Design
• Chris Phillips, PFS Studio

• Paul Samyn, Winnipeg Free Press

Saskatchewan had 14 entries: 8 in Recent Works, 3 in Interior Design and 3 in Small Projects.; and two were winners. 
For a full listing and photos of all submissions, please visit www.prairiedesignawards.com

Winners are as follows:

Recent Works - Award of Excellence:

• The Avenue on Portage - Winnipeg, MB - 5468796 Architecture Inc.

• The University of Manitoba ART Lab - Winnipeg, MB - LM Architectural Group

Recent Works - Award of Merit:

• Douglas Park School - Regina, SK - Number Ten Architectural Group
• Graduate House, University of Saskatchewan - Saskatoon, SK - Stantec Architecture Ltd.
• Jasper Place Branch Library - Edmonton, AB - Hughes Condon Marler Architects and DUB Architects Ltd.  

in Joint Venture

• Northgate Transit Centre - Edmonton, AB - Group2 Architecture Interior Design Ltd.

Interior Design - Award of Merit:

• Manitoba Start - Winnipeg, MB - 5468796 Architecture Inc.

Small Projects - Award of Excellence:

• Assiniboine Park Washrooms - Winnipeg, MB - Peter Sampson Architecture Studio Inc.
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Small Projects - Award of Merit:

• Fiskoist - Gimli, MB - Liane Veness, Architect

Landscape Architecture, Award of Merit:

• The Landscape of Memory: Poppy Plaza - Calgary, AB - the marc boutin architectural collaborative

Landscape Architecture, Award of Merit:

• Folly Forest - Winnipeg, MB - Straub Thurmayr CSLA Landscaftsarchitekten and Urban Designers

RAIC REGIONAL DIRECTOR

Michael Cox

It is my great pleasure, on behalf of RAIC President Sam Oboe and my colleagues on the RAIC Board of Directors to 
extend greetings to the assembly of the 2015 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan Association of 
Architects. The RAIC truly values its important relationship with the SAA, and we appreciate the work done by all 
architects in Saskatchewan, members and non-members alike.

I would like to take this opportunity to report on some of the RAIC’s recent accomplishments on behalf of architects 
and architecture.

As we all know, the RAIC is the national voice for excellence in the built environment in Canada. 

2014 has been a busy and productive year for all of us as we turn a very important corner with our vision to 
demonstrate how design enhances the quality of life, while addressing important issues of society through 
responsible architecture.

Among the highlights, the RAIC and its foundation launched the $100,000 Moriyama RAIC International Prize, which 
has attracted worldwide attention.

It was a banner year also at the Venice Biennale in Architecture. For the first time since Canada has been involved with 
the Biennale (1952), we received an award: a Special Mention for Arctic Adaptations: Nunavut at 15, by Lateral Office 
of Toronto. It was also the first time the RAIC assumed the role of Commissioner of the Canada Pavilion at Venice. We 
aim to build on that success, including undertaking the rehabilitation of the pavilion.

Through a strengthened advocacy program, we continued to engage fellow citizens and decision-makers.

Among various activities, the RAIC lobbied Canada Post to rethink its community mailbox strategy in urban areas. 
Vancouver is now considering how to make the boxes social gathering points.

The RAIC supported the Idle No More Campaign, which calls on Canadians to address the inequities that affect 
indigenous people across Canada. In particular, the RAIC is advocating for the rights of First Nations people to live 
in communities designed to support health, well-being and cultural identity. 
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Outside of Canada, the RAIC added its voice to save Cemex House, an innovative 1980s building in England designed 
by Edward Cullinan Architects. The campaign resulted in a heritage listing and preserved the building.

The Governor General’s Medals in Architecture, which are administered by the RAIC, were presented at Rideau Hall 
last spring. This year we tried something new; we held a special public event, in which the Governor-General’s winners 
presented their projects in five-minute segments at the National Gallery of Canada. It proved to be a very popular way 
to introduce the public to Canadian architecture.

We are now administering the National Urban Design Awards in collaboration with the Canadian Institute of 
Planners and the Canadian Society of Landscape Architects. When we launched the awards 10 years ago, we had 
four participating municipalities, and now we have 17. The awards present an excellent tool for promoting design 
excellence, and I encourage you to approach your municipalities to join in.

Last May, we held our annual Festival of Architecture in Winnipeg, and we’re still hearing from attendees about what 
an enjoyable experience it was. We are eagerly anticipating our annual conference is in Calgary from June 3-6th. I 
warmly invite you all to attend.

Part of our role is to share knowledge and work with like-minded organizations. We are renewing our important 
relationship with the Canada Green Building Council and have recently formed a partnership with Kollectif, the leading 
architectural news website in Quebec. We’re also building our relationship with various international architectural 
associations with the intent of learning about best practices and sharing new information on membership recruitment, 
membership structure and the ability to serve our members through various services offered to them.

In November, we welcomed in Ian Chodikoff, our new Executive Director. Ian is committed to enhancing the 
efficiencies of the RAIC, engaging new members, and promoting the RAIC’s abilities to build stronger leadership in the 
profession through our ability to promote architectural excellence. 

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me personally at mcox@raic.org. Thank you.
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Past President 

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

Paul Blaser

Once again, I would like to take the opportunity to thank the membership for the opportunity to serve on SAA 
Council. The SAA is a vital institution for architects as it ensures the privileges and responsibilities of the profession; it 
is a duty and honor that every member should participate in during their career. I have appreciated the wisdom and 
commitment of my fellow Council members for the last four years, and I look forward to continuing to serve the 
Association in supportive roles where I am needed.

Key to the duties as Past President is my work as the Nominations Committee. This year we have three members 
coming off Council: Lyle Weibe, Rob Beug and myself. Council would like to thank Lyle for his commitment and hard 
work, most recently as the Secretary-Treasurer and Registrar. Council would also like to thank Rob for his years of 
service, most recently with the SAA’s Communications Committee.

Of our retiring councillors, both Lyle and I are from Saskatoon, with Rob from Regina. Of the remaining councillors, 
two are located in Saskatoon, and three in Regina. As such, the requirement of Bylaw 5.01 to have at least two 
councillors from each of Regina and Saskatoon is already met by the remaining councillors.

The SAA is a self-regulating association and therefore is required through The Architects Act, 1996 to have a council 
to manage and regulate the affairs and business of the Association. SAA Bylaws require a minimum of four nominees 
to fill the two vacant councillor seats. The association not only relies on its members to volunteer their time, this 
awesome privilege is required through our legislation.

At the time of writing this report, the four nominees have not fully committed to letting their name stand, however I 
am confident the four-nominee requirement will be announced prior to the AGM. As always, additional nominations 
from the floor will be called for and accepted. At the AGM, each nominee will provide their credentials and their 
reasons for wishing to serve the SAA.

Thank You. I wish the continuing Council all the best in their year to come.

LIFE MEMBER NOMINATIONS

(as submitted by SAA Members)

Bob Ellard    

As an architect and volunteer, Bob Ellard has been a major community leader in Regina and Saskatchewan. During 
his professional career Bob lead many design teams that influenced Regina and Saskatchewan’s skylines through 
numerous projects. Through his involvement in rowing and numerous community organizations, Bob became a 
much-respected member within the community. Bob has always been a great motivator and leader. His method of 
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always allowing team members to venture out on their own, while watching with a close eye to ensure that all of the 
pieces and parts were coming together, resulted in many successful events, projects and celebrations. It is for the 
above reasons that he is deserving of the honor of SAA Life Member. 

Upon his arrival to Regina in 1977, Bob started the IKOY Architects office in Saskatchewan. Bob was a partner at IKOY 
from 1978 to 1993. As the firm evolved and expanded, Bob teamed up with Don Lehrer, Ken McMillan and Bob Croft 
to form McMillan Lehrer Ellard Croft. With Don and Ken’s retirement the firm was re-structured to become ‘the ellard 
croft design group’. This architectural group grew to be one of the largest firms in Saskatchewan, with offices in Regina 
and Saskatoon employing approximately 45 staff collectively. In 2001, Bob and his partners joined Stantec 
Architecture. From 2001 to 2008 Bob not only managed the Stantec group in Saskatchewan, but also became one of 
the Vice Presidents within Stantec. His keen sense of adventure and disposition to always look for new challenges 
lead him to take a position at the University of Calgary in 2008 as Vice President, Facilities Management and 
Development. Bob remained at this position until he retired in December 2013. With Bob’s good health and inability 
to sit still, he started the Ellard Design Group in July 2013 and continues to share his talents and professional services 
with clients and the community in which he lives.

During his busy professional career, Bob was very much a family man. He and his wife Barb, of 44 years, have two 
children - Brie, in Regina, and Ben, in Calgary. As grandparents they are now enjoying time with their six grandchildren.

While raising his two children and running an architectural firm, Bob found time to serve the Saskatchewan 
Association of Architects as a council member and as president (1983). Along with a group of fellow architects, Bob 
was involved in producing the SAA’s first book ‘Historic Architecture of Saskatchewan’ which was published in 1986; 
a second printing followed in 1987.

Bob has also participated and held leadership roles in a number of organizations and events, including but not 
limited to the following: Chairman of 2014 Alberta Winter Games (2012 to present), President and Chair of the Board 
for the 2005 Canada Summer Games (2000-2006), Chair of the Board of Grey Cup 2003 (2000-2004), co-Chair of 
the capital campaign for the Hospitals of Regina Foundation (1998-2001), President of the Rowing Canada Aviron 
(1988 - 2000), “A” Director of Canadian Olympic Committee (1990-1993), President of the Canadian Masters 
Summer Sports Festival (1989-1992).

The culmination of Bob’s hard work and dedication to his community has not gone unnoticed. Bob’s peers and 
community have recognized his hard work and dedication through numerous awards. The following is a partial listing of 
the awards bestowed on Bob: Queen Elizabeth II Diamond Jubilee Medal (2013), Saskatchewan Order of Merit Recipient 
(2008), Sask Sport President’s Citation (2005), Sask Centennial Medal (2005), Queen Elizabeth II Golden Jubilee Medal 
(2002), RAIC College of Fellows (1997), Mayor’s Distinguished Volunteer Award (1996), Inducted into Saskatchewan 
Sports Hall of Fame as a Builder (1995), Sask Sport President’s Citation (1992), Canada 125 Medal (1992), Rowing 
Canada Aviron, Executive of the Year (1988), Rowing Canada Aviron, Domestic Coach of the year (1981).

Major projects in Regina that Bob worked on during his career include:

• The Northwest Leisure Center Swimming Pool

• Canada Life building
• Farm Credit Corporation Tower
• Saskatchewan Sound Stage
• Regina Airport addition and expansion
• Globe Theater renovations
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• Forensic Laboratory at the RCMP
• Regina’s Fieldhouse at the Lawson Aquatic Center 
• Taylor Motors and numerous other car dealerships
• University of Regina - Kinesiology Building
• University of Regina - Riddell Centre
• Petroleum Technology Research Center - Research Park
• RCMP Dining Hall, RCMP Depot

• EVRAZ Place Addition

Major projects that Bob worked on during his career that were located outside of Regina include:

• T-Rex Discovery Centre, Eastend
• Estevan Leisure Centre, Estevan
• E.A. Rawlinson Centre, Prince Albert
• Moose Jaw Casino, Moose Jaw

• Mae Wilson Theatre Historical Renovation, Moose Jaw 

Obert Friggstad 

Obert Friggstad’s 40 years of work as an architect in Saskatchewan established a standard for service, quality and 
ethics that defined the right way to practice architecture. This standard has been emulated by others, and can be 
seen in practices across the province and in the projects Saskatchewan architects deliver. Obert engendered broad 
respect from colleagues, consultants, clients and contractors alike during his career. He has been a role model to 
many young architects, displaying how to be a leader both professionally and in the community. Obert has always 
been positive and supportive of those in the profession, which has contributed to the collegiality enjoyed by 
architects in Saskatchewan to this day. Saskatchewan architects also enjoy a level of appreciation in the industry that 
is not present in many other parts of Canada. Obert’s career was central to developing the reputation that all 
Saskatchewan architects enjoy, and for that reason he is deserving of the honor of SAA Life Member. 

Obert was born in Frontier, Saskatchewan. He was raised on the family farm, which was established by his 
grandparents who immigrated to Canada, from Norway, as pioneers in 1917. He attended school in Frontier, LCBI in 
Outlook and studied architecture at the University of Manitoba. 

During his university years, Obert worked two summers at the Regina office of D.H. Stock and Partners. Following 
graduation from University in 1970, he began work in their Saskatoon office. Completing his registration with the 
Saskatchewan Association of Architects in 1973, Obert became an Associate Partner with the firm. He became a 
member of the Royal Architectural Institute of Canada that same year. In 1975, Obert became a full partner. 

Following Dan Stock’s retirement in 1977, Tom Ferguson, Don Folstad and Obert formed the corporate partnership of 
Ferguson Folstad Friggstad - Architects. Following Tom’s withdrawal from that partnership in 1986, Don and Obert 
continued as Folstad & Friggstad Architects. Following Don’s retirement in 1992, the practice continued as Friggstad 
Architects, later revised to Friggstad Downing Henry Architects, which continued until his retirement which began in 
2007, ending a few years later when he revised his SAA status to “retired”. This firm is recognizable today as Henry 
Downing Architects - the tradition of the firm’s name evolving as the ownership changes has continued. 
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Obert was elected to the Saskatchewan Association of Architects Council in 1979 but chose to withdraw when he 
became Campaign Chairman of the United Way of Saskatoon in 1980. Obert later served as a United Way Board 
Member again from 1989 to 1992. He returned to SAA Council in 2005 and served as SAA President in 2008. 

Personal professional awards that were bestowed on Obert include: an Apostolic Blessing from His Holiness Pope 
John Paul II for his work on Holy Spirit Church in 1982, Rotary International Golden Wheel Award for Design Excellence 
in 1988 and nomination to the College of Fellows of the RAIC in 1993. 

Obert’s other community service includes being a Council and Committee Member of Zion Lutheran Church and 
Chairman (1995-1998); Board Member of Kinasao Lutheran Bible Camp (1988) and Chairman (1991); Lutheran 
Collegiate Bible Institute Board Member (1972-1985) and Chairman (1980-1985). 

In addition to membership in the SAA and RAIC, Obert was active in the Council of Educational Facility Planners 
International, serving as a Board Member of the Saskatchewan Chapter from 1992 to 1996, Saskatchewan President 
in 1995 and Regional Governor 1996 to 1999. Obert was an active participant in conferences, making several 
presentations over the years. His firm became leaders in the design of educational facilities, receiving the CEFPI Pacific 
Northwest Region, Pinnacle Award for M.C. Knoll/ St. Michael’s School in Yorkton - Saskatchewan’s first joint school in 
1998, as well as for Spruce Ridge School - Estevan in 2005. 

Major school projects during Obert’s career included: 

• 1970’s:  Holy Cross; 

• 1980’s:  Marion Graham, Warman, Martensville, Venture Heights, St. Goretti, Fr. Vachon, St. Anne, St. Augustine; 

• 1990’s:  St. Angela, St. Volodymyr, Mosquito, Island Lake, Makwa Sahgaiehcan, Jonas Samson, LCBI, Little Red 
River; 

• 2000’s:  MC Knoll/St. Michaels, Sacred Heart, Silverspring, Jack Kemp, Bell’s Point, Carnduff, Carpenter, 
Biggar, Spruce Ridge, Vincent Massey, plus numerous school additions, renovations and repairs in all corners of 
the province.

Obert’s other major projects included: 

• 1970’s  Western Development Museum, Place Riel, Luther Tower, Travelodge Hotel; 

• 1980’s  Holy Spirit Church, Wall Street Medical building, Teacher’s Credit Union, Luther Heights, Lutheran Sunset 
Home, St. Volodymyr Villa and Chapel, National Hydrology Research Centre, Sheraton (Sands) Hotel in Regina, 
Sheraton Hotel in Calgary; 

• 1990’s  Saskatoon Cancer Clinic, the Remai (Radisson) Hotel and Condominium project in Saskatoon and it’s 
sister project in Regina - the Remai (Delta) Hotel and Saskatchewan Trade and Convention Centre, Saskatoon 
City Hospital (JV with AEA, BPA), College of Agriculture, Saskatchewan Place (with PBK), Mayfair United Church, 
Christ the King Catholic Church, Luther Riverside Terrace, Celebration Lutheran Church, Riverside Country Club, 
several Day’s Inn projects; 

• 2000’s  Education Centre for the Saskatoon Board of Education, U of S College of Kinesiology, NATO flight 
training centers in Moose Jaw and Cold Lake, Shaw Centre, and Elk Ridge Lodge. His final major design project 
was the Cathedral of the Holy Family. 

All of these projects were team projects in which Obert’s partners and staff capably supported him. In particular, Obert relied 
on Don Folstad in the early years, Keith Henry for design support and Al Downing for CA support for most of his career. 
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MINUTES OF THE 2014 ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING OF THE 
SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF 
ARCHITECTS

Saturday, May 10, 2014
Battleford Room, Delta Bessborough Hotel
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

MEETING ATTENDEES

COUNCIL ATTENDEES

Rob Beug, Paul Blaser, Bob Burnyeat, Bob Croft, David W. Edwards , Raymond Gosselin , Ray Plosker, Lyle Wiebe 

STAFF ATTENDEES

Janelle Unrau, Annette Horvath , Rhonda Schindel , Whitney Robson

CHAIRPERSON 

Paul Blaser, President

Layne Arthur 
Kirk Banadyga 
Roman Bergerman
Anthony Cameron
Gary Cooper
A. John Cope 
Dominador Daplas 
Willem de Lint 
Tammi Denby 
Kurt Dietrich 
Alan Downing
Allan Duddridge 
Curtis Dyck
David C. Edwards
Darrel Epp 
Phil Evans 

Bernard Flaman 
Don Greer
Keith Henry 
Jason Hurd 
Bill Hutchinson
Harry Jedlic 
Jeff Jurzyniec
Christopher Kailing
Patrick Kelly 
Derek Kindrachuk 
Heney Klypak 
Paul Koopman
Jyhling Lee 
Darlene Machibroda 
Kirstin Mahan Thompson
Ann March 

Jim McEwen 
John McGinn 
Grant McKercher 
Donald Miller 
Roger Mitchell 
Frank Moore 
Wes Moore 
Thomas Nahachewsky 
Laurie Njaa
Olena Pavlyuk 
Rory Picklyk 
Daniel Reeves 
Chris Roszell
Ted Rusick 
Brian Saunders
Bill Schaffel 

Jim Siemens 
Maurice Soulodre 
Reg Squires 
Patrick Stewart 
Richard Stone 
Roderick Stutt
Alton Tangedal 
Colin Tennent 
Rob Tomiyama 
Robert Trumbley 
Andrew Wallace 
Ken Wilson
Justin Wotherspoon 
James Youck 
James Zimmer



 

52

1. Call to Order

The 2014 Annual General Meeting was called to order at 1:24 PM with 63 resident, voting SAA members in 
attendance, including 8 Councilors (as per signatures on the register).

2. President’s Welcome

President Paul Blaser welcomed all in attendance and introduced the SAA Council. Special thanks were given to the 
AGM Committee - Don Greer, Bianca Hiebert and Paul Koopman for coordinating the weekend. 

3. Acceptance of the Agenda

MOTION: THAT the agenda of the 2014 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects be accepted. 

Moved by: Don Greer    Seconded by: David C. Edwards    Carried

4. Acceptance of the Minutes of the 2013 Annual General Meeting

It was asked that the 2013 Bylaw Amendments be attached to the 2013 AGM minutes as an appendix.  

MOTION: THAT the minutes of the 2013 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects be 
accepted, with the addition of the appendix.

Moved by: Willem de Lint    Seconded by: Rory Picklyk    Carried

5. Nominating Committee Report and Introduction of Council Member Nominees 

Past-President, Bob Croft, reported that there were two positions on Council to be filled, and that four members had 
let their names be put forward for consideration: 

John Cope
Kurt Dietrich
Bernie Flaman
Paul Koopman

Bob Croft noted the importance of SAA members serving on Council. He thanked those who allowed their names to 
stand for election in 2014. The first call for nominations from the floor was made.
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6. Reports  

PRESIDENT’S REPORT

Paul Blaser spoke in regards to the changes he has seen within the SAA since his arrival in 2005. The SAA has been able to 
meet the demands of a rapidly growing membership. Paul commented that many of the topics that were discussed during the 
Member Forum Session were items mentioned in his report.       

SECRETARY-TREASURER REPORT

Secretary-Treasurer Lyle Wiebe gave a report on the demographic change that has been seen in the province over the last number 
of years. He provided statistical information about architects in Saskatchewan, looking specifically at the ratio of architects per 
million people and the ratio of resident vs. non resident architects. He spoke of the need to increase fees to support the growth of 
administration. Lyle displayed a slide comparing our fee rates with others in Canada, they were relatively low. Other associations 
in Canada have 1 staff per 100 members; the SAA has less than .6 staff per 100 members (after recent hires). 

MOTION:  TO accept the 2013 financial statement (unaudited) of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects.

Moved by: Lyle Wiebe    Seconded by: Phil Evans    Carried

MOTION:  TO adopt the 2014 operating budget of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects.

Moved by: Lyle Wiebe    Seconded by: James Zimmer 

There is a plan to renovate the SAA office starting in June 2014 to accommodate a growing staff. It was asked if there is a 
contingency plan in place if we suddenly lose a number of non resident members. Janelle was able to answer that there is a 
reserve, which is enough to sustain operations for a year or two. The SAA would have to readjust its priorities if/when we see 
that turn come. A question was asked about some extra costs seen in this year’s budget. The answer is because of the cost of 
the new website that will be launched this year. There have also been more meetings with government, other provincial 
associations and allied professions’ associations that time and resources have been dedicated to. A member asked why the 
SAA does not leave its reserves in the bank. Janelle Unrau, Executive Director of the SAA answered, because we need to zero 
out every year as we are a non-profit organization. 

Carried, One Opposed

7. Acceptance of Reports

Paul Blaser informed the membership that all reports were published in the annual report and are there for members to read. 
It was asked whether there were any questions - none were raised. 

MOTION:  TO accept the 2013 Committee Reports as printed in the 2013 SAA Annual Report.

Moved by: Jeff Jurzyniec    Seconded by: David W. Edwards    Carried
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8. Bylaw Amendments

The Practice Committee (Bob Burnyeat and David W. Edwards) presented the 2014 Proposed Bylaw Amendments. 
The following proposed bylaw amendments were circulated to membership previous to the AGM and were revised to 
reflect the members’ input. Marcus Davies, SAA Legal Counsel, was in attendance to assist in answering member 
questions surrounding the proposed bylaw amendments. 

THE 2014 BYLAW AMENDMENT RATIFICATIONS BY MEMBERS

MOTION:  TO amend Bylaw 26.07 as printed in the 2014 Proposed Bylaw Amendments document and passed by 
Council on December 3, 2013.  

Moved by: Bob Burnyeat    Seconded by: David W. Edwards    Carried

MOTION:  TO amend Bylaw 21 as printed in the 2014 Proposed Bylaw Amendments document and passed by 
Council on March 12, 2014.  

Moved by: Bob Burnyeat    Seconded by: David W. Edwards    Carried

MOTION:  TO amend Appendix A as printed in the 2014 Proposed Bylaw Amendments document and passed by 
Council on October 25, 2013.  

Moved by: Bob Burnyeat    Seconded by: David W. Edwards 

A member asked if members paid these fees for this renewal year. The answer was yes, this is an administrative bylaw, 
so Council voted to make this change in October. It was asked if our 2014 budget was predicated on these increased 
fees. The Practice Committee answered, yes.

Carried, Two Opposed

2014 PROPOSED BYLAW AMENDMENTS

MOTION:  TO amend Bylaw 6.01 as printed in the 2014 Proposed Bylaw Amendments document.

Moved by: Bob Burnyeat    Seconded by: David W. Edwards    Carried

MOTION:  TO amend Bylaw 14.03 as printed in the 2014 Proposed Bylaw Amendments document.

Moved by: Bob Burnyeat    Seconded by: David W. Edwards    Carried

MOTION:  TO amend Bylaw 15.05.1 as printed in the 2013 Proposed Bylaw Amendments document.  

Moved by: Bob Burnyeat    Seconded by: David W. Edwards    Carried

MOTION:  TO amend Bylaws 12 and 13 as printed in the 2013 Proposed Bylaw Amendments document. Moved by: 
Bob Burnyeat    Seconded by: David W. Edwards 

The work on these bylaw revisions has been in the works for the past year. Current practice for some architectural 
corporations is for them to structure themselves as partnerships of corporations. The SAA’s current bylaws do not allow 
for this. The intent of these changes is that the public is protected by the knowledge that architecture firms are 
controlled by architects. A member asked if there is a distinction between the ‘Licence to Practice’ and the ‘Certificate 
of Practice’. The Practice Committee answered, yes, a certificate is the piece of paper and represents the licence, the 
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licence is what you are granted from the Association. A member asked whose employment contracts the SAA is 
interested in seeing and what information is the SAA looking for in doing so? The answer: only information relevant to 
confirming the 51% architect ownership.  

Carried, One Opposed

Bob and Dave thanked Bill Kelly, his Committee and Whitney Robson for their work on this year’s bylaw amendments. 

9. Election of Council Members

The four Council nominees were asked to address membership. The call for Council nominations from the floor was 
made twice more. 

MOTION:  THAT nominations for SAA Council cease. 

Moved by: David W. Edwards    Seconded by: Willem de Lint    Carried

APPOINTMENT OF SCRUTINEERS

Annette Horvath

Rhonda Schindel

	 	 	 																																																													Vote	and	Coffee	Break	

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ELECTION RESULTS

Congratulations to new Councilors: 

Bernie Flaman 

Paul Koopman

MOTION:  THAT the ballots of the 2013 Council election be destroyed.

Moved by: Wes Moore    Seconded by: Derek Kindrachuk    Carried

10. Appointment of Accountants for the Year Ending December 31, 2014

MOTION:  THAT Ernst & Young LLP be appointed to perform the unaudited financial review for the year ending 
December 31, 2014

Moved by: Lyle Wiebe    Seconded by: Don Greer    Carried
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11. Other Business

ANNOUNCEMENTS

Council to go to Spadina Room for a Council meeting directly following adjournment. 

Champagne reception starts at 6:00 PM, dinner to follow at 7:00 PM.

Members were reminded to complete their ConEd by June 30, 2014. 

12. Adjournment 

MOTION:  THAT the 2014 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects be adjourned. 

Moved by: Derek Kindrachuk

The 2014 SAA AGM was adjourned at 3:40 PM.
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APPENDIX TO 2014 SAA AGM MINUTES

2014 SAA PROPOSED BYLAW AMENDMENTS 
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2014 SAA Bylaw Amendment Ratifications by Members
Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition

BYLAW AMENDMENT - PASSED BY SAA COUNCIL ON DECEMBER 3, 2013

Existing Amendment passed by membership at May 11, 
2013

Revision incorporating 19(c)(iii) of The Architects Act, 
1996. 

26.07

Application for membership in the 
Association shall require that the 
applicant has a prior certificate 
from the Canadian Architectural 
Certification Board.

26.07

Application for membership in the Association shall 
require that the applicant:

.1   has a prior certificate from the Canadian 
Architectural Certification Board, or

.2			has	been	granted	certification	under	the	
Broadly Experienced Foreign Architect (BEFA) 
Program, or

.3   is a member in good standing of an 
association, society or body of architects 
with which this association has a reciprocal 
agreement relating to the admission of persons 
in the respective associations, societies or 
bodies.

26.07

Application for membership in the Association shall 
require that the applicant:

.1   has a prior certificate from the Canadian 
Architectural Certification Board, or

.2   has been granted certification under the Broadly 
Experienced Foreign Architect (BEFA) Program, or

.3   the person is registered as the equivalent of 
an architect in good standing pursuant to the 
legislation of another jurisdiction in Canada; or

.4   is a member in good standing of an association, 
society or body of architects with which this 
association has a reciprocal agreement relating to the 
admission of persons in the respective associations, 
societies or bodies.

BYLAW AMENDMENT - PASSED BY SAA COUNCIL ON MARCH 12, 2014

21.01
As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees to be 
charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended, according 
to the records of the architect. It is recommended that the charges 
shall be at a rate of not less than $157 per hour, plus approximately 
5% per full year of the architect’s post-registration experience, to a 
maximum of $235, with the hourly rate to be indexed to the consumer 
price index for the personal service of the architect plus disbursements 
and salaried costs at 3.0 times the payroll. “Payroll” shall include the 
salary of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project, plus the 
architect’s cost of mandatory and customary contributions and benefits 
related thereto, which include all contributions made with the respect 
to Workers’ Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada Pension 
and all other statutory benefits and shall include sick leave, holidays, 
vacations, pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall include the 
design and general review of all engineering services including structural, 
mechanical, electrical and the like. Where an architect is consulted 
with regard to matters of which he/she has special knowledge and 
experience the recommended rate for such consultation is 1.25 times 
the calculated fee rate.

21.01
As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees to be 
charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended, according 
to the records of the architect. It is recommended that the charges shall 
be at a rate of not less than $157 $161 per hour, plus approximately 
5% per full year of the architect’s post-registration experience, to a 
maximum of $235 $240, with the hourly rate to be indexed to the 
consumer price index for the personal service of the architect plus 
disbursements and salaried costs at 3.0 times the payroll. “Payroll” shall 
include the salary of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project, 
plus the architect’s cost of mandatory and customary contributions 
and benefits related thereto, which include all contributions made with 
respect to Workers’ Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada 
Pension and all other statutory benefits and shall include sick leave, 
holidays, vacations, pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall 
include the design and general review of all engineering services 
including structural, mechanical, electrical and the like. Where an 
architect is consulted with regard to matters of which he/she has special 
knowledge and experience the recommended rate for such consultation 
is 1.25 times the calculated fee rate.
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BYLAW AMENDMENT - PASSED BY SAA COUNCIL ON OCTOBER 25, 2013

Appendix A  

I. Application Fee
.1 Registered Membership $250
.2 Intern Architect Membership $50
.3 Associate Membership $50.00  
.4 Firm $300
.5 Temporary License $300
.6 Readmission fees are equal to application fees.

IV. Annual fee for members and associate members of the Association is:
.1 a member who is an individual $800
.2 a life member $0
.3 a member on leave of absence $200
.4 an honorary member $0
.5 an intern architect member $100
.6 a member - non-practicing, a retired member $50
.7 an associate member $150
.8 a student or syllabus member $0
.9 membership under temporary licensure $1,000

V. The annual fee for certificate of license of a firm $300

VI. The annual fee for temporary license $7,000

VII. The fee for a certificate of status $50

VIII. Additional sum for reinstatement of a person to the register under 
section 37 of the Act $300

Appendix A  

I. Application Fee
.1 Registered Membership $250
.2 Intern Architect Membership $50
.3 Associate Membership $50 
.4 Firm $300
.5 Temporary License $300
.6 Readmission fees are equal to application fees.

IV. Annual fee for members and associate members of the Association 
is:

.1 a member who is an individual $800  $900

.2 a life member $0

.3 a member on leave of absence $200  $250

.4 an honorary member $0

.5 an intern architect member $100  $150

.6 a member - non-practicing, a retired member $50

.7 an associate member $150  $200

.8 a student or syllabus member $0

.9 membership under temporary licensure $1,000

V. The annual fee for certificate of license of a firm $300  $400

VI. The annual fee for temporary license $7,000

VII. The fee for a certificate of status $50

VIII. Additional sum for reinstatement of a person to the register under 
section 37 of the Act $300

2014 Proposed Bylaw Amendments / General Bylaw Clean Up

Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition

EXISTING BYLAW SUGGESTED AMENDMENT

6.01
(a) Six members of the Council shall constitute a quorum of the Council.

6.01
(a) .1 Six members of the Council shall constitute a quorum of the 
Council.

14.03
A member may revoke a proxy by depositing an instrument in writing 
executed by the member personally: 
.1 at the offices of the Association at anytime up to and including the 
last business day preceding the day of the meeting or any adjournment 
thereof, at which the proxy is to be used; or

14.03
A member may revoke a proxy by depositing an instrument in writing 
executed by the member personally: 
.1 At the offices of the Association at any time up to and including the 
last business day preceding the day of the meeting or any adjournment 
thereof, seven days prior to the meeting at which the proxy is to be 
used; or

15.05.1 
Each office maintained for offering architectural services to the public 
shall have an architect who has direct knowledge and supervisory 
control of the services.

15.05.1 
Each office maintained for offering architectural services to the public 
shall have an architect or architects who has or have direct knowledge 
and supervisory control of the services.
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Changes to Bylaws 12 & 13

EXISTING BYLAW SUGGESTED AMENDMENT

12.01   
A corporation shall only be granted a license to practice architecture and 
shall only retain such license where:

12.01   
An architectural corporation is an architect-held corporation in 
which one or more registered architects holds, either directly or 
indirectly,	the	beneficial	and	absolute	ownership	of	51%	or	more	
of the voting shares of the corporation. It shall only be granted a 
Licence to Practice Architecture and shall only retain such Licence to 
Practice where:

.1  one of its principal and customary functions is to Practice Architecture 
and the practice is to be conducted under the supervision of a 
member or members of the Association who is or are employed by 
the corporation and who individually assume the function of and 
are responsible as members for architectural services performed, 
notwithstanding their employment with the architectural corporation;

.1  one of its principal and customary functions is to Practice 
Architecture and the practice is to be conducted under the supervision 
of a registered member or members of the Association who is or are 
employed by the corporation and who individually assume the function 
of and are responsible as registered members for architectural services 
performed, notwithstanding their employment with the architectural 
corporation;

.2  the personal seal or stamp of a member or members of the 
Association and not the seal of the corporation must be used to stamp 
any required drawings;

.2  the personal seal or stamp of a registered member or members 
of the Association and not the seal or stamp of the architectural 
corporation must be used to seal or stamp any required drawings;

.3  the name of the corporation shall not be worded in such a manner 
that it might mislead the public;

.3 the name of the architectural corporation shall not be worded in 
such a manner that it might mislead the public;

.4  the provisions of all incorporating documents (whether Memorandum 
of Association, Articles of Association, Letters Patent or Articles of 
Incorporation) and bylaws of the corporation and any alterations or 
amendments thereto are filed with the Association and approved by 
Council;

.4  the relevant provisions of all incorporating documents (whether 
Memorandum of Association, Articles of Association, Letters Patent, 
Articles of Incorporation, or, where applicable, employment 
contracts) and bylaws of the corporation and any alterations or 
amendments thereto are filed with the Association and approved by 
Council;

.5  one of the directors must be a member of the Association; .5  one of the directors must be a member of the Association; the 
officers	and	directors	of	the	architectural	corporation	must	be	
clearly	identified	to	the	Association.

.6   the control of the corporation shall be vested in members of the 
Association and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, at least 
51% of the voting shares of the corporation shall be beneficially and 
absolutely held by members of the Association; and

.6  the control of the corporation shall be vested in registered members 
of the Association and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
at least 51% of the voting shares of the corporation shall be beneficially 
and absolutely held by registered members of the Association; and

.7  a member shall not enter into any agreement transferring voting 
rights in the member’s shares in the corporation to a person who is not 
a member.

.7  a registered member shall not enter into any agreement transferring 
voting rights in the member’s shares in the corporation to a person who 
is not a registered member.

12.02  
The corporation shall file with the Association any and all proposed 
alterations or amendments to its incorporating documents or bylaws 
or to its corporate structure, including any unanimous shareholder 
agreement pertaining thereto, and shall obtain the approval of Council 
thereto before effecting any such change. 

12.02   
The architectural corporation shall file with the Association any and all 
proposed alterations or amendments to its incorporating documents 
or bylaws or to its corporate structure, including any unanimous 
shareholder agreement pertaining thereto, and shall obtain the 
approval of Council thereto before effecting any such change.

12.03
The corporation shall at all times be maintained in good standing with 
the Director of Corporations and shall, once every year, file with the 
Association a certified copy of the annual return required to be filed with 
the Director of Corporations, Federal or Provincial as appropriate. 

12.03
The All architectural corporations shall at all times be maintained 
in good standing with the Director of Corporations and shall, once 
every year, file with the Association a certified copy of the annual 
return required to be filed with the Director of Corporations, Federal or 
Provincial as appropriate. If no changes have been made to corporate 
ownership in the preceding year, the signing of a declaration to 
this	effect	is	acceptable.	The	SAA	retains	the	rights	to	request	and	
review these documents if deemed necessary by Council.   
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Changes to Bylaws 12 & 13  Continued

EXISTING BYLAW SUGGESTED AMENDMENT

12.05
Where a corporation is but a partner in a firm, whether with other 
corporations or with individuals, the provisions of this bylaw shall apply 
to such corporation. 

12.05
Where a corporation is but a partner in a firm, whether with other 
corporations or with individuals, The provisions of this bylaw shall 
apply where an architectural corporation holds a Licence to 
Practice, as per council policy. shall apply to such corporation.

(Inserted) 13.01
An architectural corporation, partnership of architectural corporations, 
partnership or registered member that holds a Licence to Practice may 
engage	in	the	practice	of	architecture	in	Saskatchewan.

13.01
Where a firm other than a corporation is constituted for the practice of 
architecture the majority of the principals of the firm must be members 

13.01  13.02  (renumbered)
Where a firm other than an architectural corporation is constituted for 
the practice of architecture the majority of the principals directors of 
the firm must be registered members of the Association. If at any time 
the majority of directors are not members of the Association, the 
Certificate	of	Practice	of	the	firm	may	be	automatically	terminated.	 

13.02
The name of the firm shall not be worded in such a manner that it might 
mislead the public. 

13.02  13.03  (renumbered)
The name of the firm shall not be worded in such a manner that it might 
mislead the public. 

13.03
All firms are required to obtain from the Association an annual License to 
Practice Architecture.

13.03  13.04  (renumbered)
All firms are required to obtain from the Association an annual Licence 
to Practice Architecture.

13.04
A firm shall not be entitled to a License to Practice Architecture unless 
and until the following conditions are met:

.1 The firm pays to the Association the annual fees as set out in the 
schedule of fees to these Bylaws.
.2 The firm annually forwards to the Association, by the 1st day 
of February next following the year of the return, the following 
information: 

(i)  the name and business address(es), of the firm; and 
(ii)  the names and addresses of the principal(s) of the firm, the 
board of directors of the firm and the distribution of the firm’s 
ownership amongst them; and
(iii)  a sample of the firm’s current letterhead and business card(s).

13.04  13.05 (renumbered)
A firm shall not be entitled to a License to Practice Architecture unless 
and until the following conditions are met:

.1  The firm pays to the Association the annual fees as set out in the 
schedule of fees to these Bylaws.
.2  The firm annually forwards to the Association, by the 1st day of 
February next following the year of the return, the following information:
.1  the name and business address(es), of the firm; and 
.2  the names and addresses of the principal  director(s) of the firm, 
the board of directors of the firm and the distribution of the firm’s 
ownership amongst them; and
.3  a sample of the firm’s current letterhead and business card(s).
If no changes have been made to this information in the 
preceding	year,	the	signing	of	a	declaration	to	this	effect	is	
acceptable. The SAA retains the right to request and review 
these documents if deemed necessary by Council.  

13.05
The association shall maintain a List of Firms, which List shall contain the 
names of all firms in good standing with the Association who possess a 
valid License to Practice Architecture. The List of Firms shall be open to 
public inspection on reasonable notice to the Association.

13.05  13.06  (renumbered)
The association shall maintain a List of Firms, which List shall contain 
the names of all firms in good standing with the Association who 
possess a valid Licence to Practice Architecture. The List of Firms shall be 
open to public inspection on reasonable notice to the Association.

13.06
Where a firm fails to comply with the requirements as set out in Bylaw 
13.03 herein, it is liable to have its name struck from the List of Firms.

13.06  13.07  (renumbered)
Where a firm fails to comply with the requirements as set out in Bylaw 
13.03  13.04 herein, it is liable to have its name struck from the List of Firms.

13.07
A firm whose License to Practice Architecture is cancelled by virtue of 
non-compliance with Bylaw 13.03 may be reinstated by application 
in writing to the Council. The application shall be accompanied by the 
unpaid amounts that caused cancellation of the license (if applicable), 
the required information which was not supplied (if applicable), plus an 
amount equal to the initial application fee.

13.07  13.08  (renumbered)
A firm whose Licence to Practice Architecture is cancelled by virtue 
of non-compliance with Bylaw 13.03 13.04 may be reinstated 
by application in writing to the Council.  The application shall be 
accompanied by the unpaid amounts that caused cancellation of the 
Licence (if applicable), the required information which was not supplied 
(if applicable), plus an amount equal to the initial application fee.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

DECEMBER 31, 2014



65

REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

To the Members of
Saskatchewan Association of Architects

We have reviewed the statement of financial position of Saskatchewan Association of Architects as at
December 31, 2014 and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then
ended. Our review was made in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review
engagements and, accordingly, consisted primarily of enquiry, analytical procedures and discussion related
to information supplied to us by management.

A review does not constitute an audit and, consequently, we do not express an audit opinion on these
financial statements.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that these financial
statements are not, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-
profit organizations.

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN

February 24, 2015



66

REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

To the Members of
Saskatchewan Association of Architects

We have reviewed the statement of financial position of Saskatchewan Association of Architects as at
December 31, 2014 and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then
ended. Our review was made in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review
engagements and, accordingly, consisted primarily of enquiry, analytical procedures and discussion related
to information supplied to us by management.

A review does not constitute an audit and, consequently, we do not express an audit opinion on these
financial statements.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that these financial
statements are not, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-
profit organizations.

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN

February 24, 2015
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(unaudited)

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2014

2014 2013

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash $ 206,952 $ 175,960
Short-term investments - unrestricted (Note 3) 190,257 87,276
Short-term investments - internally restricted (Note 3) 68,200 68,200
Accounts receivable 2,210 631
GST receivable 11,411 -
Inventory - 200
Prepaid expenses - 1,160

479,030 333,427
Long-term investments - unrestricted 176,079 171,956
Capital assets (Note 4) 198,532 2,536

$ 853,641 $ 507,919

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) $ 236,938 $ 52,191
Deferred contributions (Note 6) 68,200 68,200

305,138 120,391

Commitments (Note 7)

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets 198,532 2,536
Unrestricted net assets 349,971 384,992

548,503 387,528

$ 853,641 $ 507,919

See accompanying notes

Approved by the Board

President Secretary-
Treasurer
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
(unaudited)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

2014 2013

Revenue
Annual dues $ 583,865 $ 504,825
Annual general meeting ("AGM")  income 67,016 75,050
Reinstatements and other penalties 55,700 2,750
Other income 17,169 7,336
Investment income (Note 8) 9,939 10,037
Other membership 5,460 2,195

739,149 602,193

Expenses
Advertising and promotion 4,220 2,845
Advocacy 3,428 4,774
Amortization 23,507 1,709
AGM 58,636 52,765
Bad debts - 419
Bank charges 9,007 6,959
Canadian Architectural Licensing Authorities ("CALA") assessments 10,422 13,595
CALA interprovincial meeting 17,616 9,030
Council 25,998 18,895
Member 8,181 8,976
Office 27,777 17,827
Other 2,730 1,087
Professional fees 23,564 37,758
Rent 31,774 28,480
Salaries and employee benefits 307,985 256,720
Scholarships and awards 22,091 42,061
Utilities 1,238 1,127

578,174 505,027

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 160,975 $ 97,166

See accompanying notes
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(unaudited)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

2014 2013

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses $ 160,975 $ 97,166
Items not affecting cash

Amortization 23,507 1,709
Unrealized gain on investments (Note 8) (2,893) (5,472)

Net change in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts receivable (1,579) 11,929
GST receivable (11,411) -
Inventory 200 -
Prepaid expenses 1,160 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (20,110) 9,316
Deferred contributions - (3,400)

149,849 111,248

Cash flows used in investing activities
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to captail asset

purchases 204,857 -
Purchase of capital assets (219,503) (1,939)
Purchase of investments (104,211) (12,766)

(118,857) (14,705)

Net increase in cash during the year 30,992 96,543

Cash, beginning of year 175,960 79,417

Cash, end of year $ 206,952 $ 175,960

See accompanying notes
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

DECEMBER 31, 2014

1. Nature of organization

The mandate of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects (the "Association") is to ensure the
protection of the public interest and to regulate and advance the profession of architecture in the
province of Saskatchewan.  The Association is exempt from income taxes under section 149 of the
Income Tax Act.

2. Significant accounting policies

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Part III of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada ("CPA") Handbook - Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit
Organizations, which sets out generally accepted accounting principles for not-for-profit
organizations in Canada and includes the significant accounting policies summarized below.

Financial instruments
Short-term  investments  consist  of  equity  and  fixed  income  instruments.  Equity  instruments
quoted in an active market are recorded at fair value.  Fixed income instruments are initially
recorded at fair value and subsequently recorded at amortized cost.  Long-term investments consist
of government investment certificates maturing in more than one year and are recorded at
amortized cost.  Transactions  are  recorded  on  a  trade  date  basis  and  transaction  costs  are
expensed as incurred.

Other financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, GST receivable and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities are initially recorded at their fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortized cost, net of any provisions for impairment.

Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization.  The Association provides for
amortization using the following methods at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets
over their estimated useful lives.  The annual amortization rates and methods are as follows:

Equipment 20% - 55% Declining balance
Leasehold improvements 5 years Straight-line

Revenue recognition
The Association follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions.  Restricted
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenditures are incurred.
Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable  when the amount
to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Annual dues are set by the Council and are recognized as revenue over the period to which they
relate.
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

DECEMBER 31, 2014

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
AGM revenue is recognized when the event is held.

Other income and other membership revenues are recognized in the period earned.

Investment income, which consists of interest and mutual fund distributions from funds, and
realized and unrealized gains and losses, is recorded in the statement of operations when earned.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  By their nature, these estimates are
subject to measurement uncertainty.  The effect of changes in such estimates on the financial
statements in future periods could be significant.

3. Short-term investments

Short-term investments - unrestricted

2014 2013

Money market funds $ 113,648 $ 14,574
Guaranteed investment certificates 27,045 26,217
Mutual funds 49,564 46,485

$ 190,257 $ 87,276

Short-term investments - internally restricted
Restricted short-term investments consist of money market funds.
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

DECEMBER 31, 2014

4. Capital assets

2014 2013

Cost
Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

Net book
value

Equipment $ 57,401 $ 34,476 $ 22,925 $ 2,536
Leasehold improvements 195,119 19,512 175,607 -

$ 252,520 $ 53,988 $ 198,532 $ 2,536

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $204,857 (2013 - $nil) of capital asset
purchases.

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $6,031 (2013 - $23,219) of government
remittances payable.

6. Deferred contributions

Deferred contributions primarily consists of contributions that were received for the purpose of
establishing a school of architecture at the University of Saskatchewan in future years.  These
amounts were unexpended at year end.

2014 2013

Balance, beginning of year $ 68,200 $ 71,600
Amounts recognized as revenue during the year - (3,400)

Balance, end of year $ 68,200 $ 68,200
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

DECEMBER 31, 2014

7. Commitments

The Association has committed to support activities undertaken to progress the development of the
proposed school of architecture at the University of Saskatchewan in the amount of  $120,000.
The terms of reference related to this commitment are currently under negotiation.

The Association is committed to the following future minimum annual office lease payments:

2015 $ 30,807
2016 30,807
2017 32,067
2018 32,067

8. Investment income

2014 2013

Interest $ 3,840 $ 2,896
Mutual fund distributions 3,206 1,669
Unrealized gains on investments 2,893 5,472

$ 9,939 $ 10,037

9. Financial instruments

Credit risk
The Association is exposed to credit risk in connection with its accounts receivable and its
investments because of the risk that one party to the financial instrument may cause a financial loss
for other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

Liquidity risk
The Association is exposed to the risk that it will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with its financial liabilities and commitments.

Interest rate risk
The Association is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its investments in fixed income
investments and money market funds that hold fixed income securities.

Price risk
The Association is exposed to price risk through changes in market prices (other than changes
arising from interest rate) in connection with its investments in mutual funds.
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

DECEMBER 31, 2014

10. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified from those previously presented to conform to
the presentation of the 2014 financial statements.
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SAA BYLAW AMENDMENTS
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SAA BYLAW AMENDMENTS

Following the 2014 SAA AGM, the SAA regulatory bylaw amendments that were approved by membership were 
submitted to the Ministry of Central Services. In the weeks following, our legislative officer, Glynn Mitchell, was in 
touch to inform the SAA that the Ministry’s Legal Counsel, Rick Hischebett, had some questions in regards to the 
amendments. On September 11, 2014 SAA President Bob Burnyeat, Past-President Paul Blaser, SAA Legal Counsel 
Marcus Davies, SAA Executive Director Janelle Unrau and Practice and Policy Coordinator Whitney Robson, had a 
conference call with Glynn Mitchell and Rick Hischebett. During the meeting with these government representatives, it 
was clear that there were two main questions that they had. One pertained to Bylaw 12.05 and it’s reference to a 
council policy. They felt that referring to the policy here suggested that the policy would supersede the bylaws. The 
other issue that Rick Hischebett saw was with the proposed changes to Bylaw 12.01.5. They suggested that this 
bylaw should remain unchanged and that it should continue to be a requirement for one of the directors of a 
corporation to be a member of the Association. The SAA 2014 bylaw amendments were revised to include these two 
changes. All of those involved in the discussions (Bob Burnyeat, Paul Blaser, Dave Edwards, Ray Gosselin, Marcus 
Davies) blessed this course of action and SAA Council approved the changes to the bylaws via the below motions. The 
following motions were carried by Council on September 25, 2014. 

MOTION:  TO rescind the amendment to Bylaw 12.01.5 passed at the SAA AGM and return the bylaw text to read: 
“one of the directors must be a member of the Association;”

Moved by: Paul Blaser    Seconded by: Dave Edwards    Carried

MOTION:  TO revise the amendment to Bylaw 12.05 passed at the SAA AGM to read: “The provisions of this bylaw 
shall apply where an architectural corporation holds a Licence to Practice”.

Moved by: Paul Blaser    Seconded by: Dave Edwards    Carried
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2014 SAA Bylaw Amendments to be Ratified by Membership 
Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition

ORIGINAL TEXT APPROVED BY MEMBERSHIP AT 2014 AGM APPROVED BY MINISTRY OF CENTRAL SERVICES

Bylaw 12.01

A corporation shall only be granted 
a licence to practice architecture 
and shall only retain such licence 
where: 

…

.5  one of the directors must be a 
member of the Association. 

Bylaw 12.01

A corporation shall only be granted a licence to 
practice architecture and shall only retain such 
licence where: 

…

.5  one of the directors must be a member of 
the Association.  the	officers	and	directors	of	
the architectural corporation must be clearly 
identified	to	the	Association. 

Bylaw 12.01

A corporation shall only be granted a licence to 
practice architecture and shall only retain such licence 
where: 

…

.5  one of the directors must be a member of 
the Association.  the	officers	and	directors	of	
the architectural corporation must be clearly 
identified	to	the	Association.

 

ORIGINAL TEXT APPROVED BY MEMBERSHIP AT 2014 AGM APPROVED BY MINISTRY OF CENTRAL SERVICES

Bylaw 12.05

Where a corporation is but a 
partner in a firm, whether with 
other corporations or with 
individuals, the provisions of 
this bylaw shall apply to such 
corporations.

Bylaw 12.05

Where a corporation is but a partner in a firm, 
whether with other corporations or with individuals, 
The provisions of this bylaw shall apply where 
an architectural corporation holds a Licence 
to Practice, as per council policy.  to such 
corporations.

Bylaw 12.05
Where a corporation is but a partner in a firm, 
whether with other corporations or with individuals, 
The provisions of this bylaw shall apply where an 
architectural corporation holds a Licence to 
Practice. as per council policy. to such corporations.



80

2015 SAA Proposed Bylaw Amendments
Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition
 

EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 9.02
An individual member other than a licensed architect is entitled to:

.1  attend general meetings and to vote thereat;

.2  receive the newsletters published by the Association;

.3  receive such information as the Council may from time to time 
direct;
.4  the benefits conferred and the duties and responsibilities 
imposed under the Act, regulations and bylaws;
.5  use the name “architect” and “registered architect” after his/her 
name.

Bylaw 9.02
An individual member other than a licensed architect is entitled to:

.1  attend general meetings and to vote thereat;

.2  receive the newsletters published by the Association;

.3  receive such information as the Council may from time to time 
direct;
.4  the benefits conferred and the duties and responsibilities 
imposed under the Act, regulations and bylaws;
.5  use the name “architect” and “registered architect” after his/her 
name and shall use the designation “SAA”

EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 12.02
The architectural corporation shall file with the Association any and all 
proposed alterations or amendments to its incorporating documents 
or bylaws or to its corporate structure, including any unanimous 
shareholder agreement pertaining thereto, and shall obtain the approval 
of Council thereto before effecting any such change.

Bylaw 12.02
The architectural corporation shall file with the Association any 
and all proposed alterations or amendments to its incorporating 
documents or bylaws or to its corporate structure, including any 
unanimous shareholder agreement pertaining thereto. and. Where the 
amendments result in a change to the control of the corporation, 
the architectural corporation shall obtain the approval of Council 
thereto before effecting any such change.

EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 13.05
A firm shall not be entitled to a Licence to Practice Architecture unless 
and until the following conditions are met:

.1  The firm pays to the Association the annual fees as set out in the 
schedule of fees to these Bylaws.
.2  The firm annually forwards to the Association, by the 1st day 
of February next following the year of the return, the following 
information:

.1  the name and business address(es) of the firm; and

.2  the names and addresses of the director(s) of the firm, and 
the distribution of the firm’s ownership amongst them; and
.3  a sample of the firm’s current letterhead and business card(s).

If no changes have been made to this information in the preceding 
year, the signing of a declaration to this effect is acceptable. The SAA 
retains the right to request and review these documents if deemed 
necessary by Council.

Bylaw 13.05
A firm shall not be entitled to a Licence to Practice Architecture unless 
and until the following conditions are met:

.1  The firm pays to the Association the annual fees as set out in the 
schedule of fees to these Bylaws.
.2  The firm annually forwards to the Association, by the 1st day of 
February first	business	day	of	January next following the year of 
the return, the following information:

.1  the name and business address(es) of the firm; and

.2  the names and addresses of the director(s) of the firm, and 
the distribution of the firm’s ownership amongst them; and
.3  a sample of the firm’s current letterhead and business card(s).

If no changes have been made to this information in the preceding 
year, the signing of a declaration to this effect is acceptable. The SAA 
retains the right to request and review these documents if deemed 
necessary by Council.
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EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 21
As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees to be 
charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended, according 
to the records of the architect. It is recommended that the charges 
shall be at a rate of not less than $161 per hour, plus approximately 
5% per full year of the architect’s post-registration experience, to a 
maximum of $240, with the hourly rate to be indexed to the consumer 
price index for the personal service of the architect plus disbursements 
and salaried costs at 3.0 times the payroll.  “Payroll” shall include the 
salary of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project, plus the 
architect’s cost of mandatory and customary contributions and benefits 
related thereto, which include all contributions made with respect to 
Workers’ Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada Pension 
and all other statutory benefits and shall include sick leave, holidays, 
vacations, pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall include the 
design and general review of all engineering services including structural, 
mechanical, electrical and the like. Where an architect is consulted 
with regard to matters of which he/she has special knowledge and 
experience the recommended rate for such consultation is 1.25 times 
the calculated fee rate.

Bylaw 21
As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees to be 
charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended, according 
to the records of the architect. It is suggested recommended that the 
baseline rate for such charges as of February 1, 2015 shall be not 
less than $163 per hour, charges shall be at a rate of not less than 
$161 per hour, plus approximately 5% per full year of the architect’s 
post-registration experience, to a maximum of $240 $243. It is 
understood that this hourly rate shall be indexed to the Statistics 
Canada	Consumer	Price	Index	for	Saskatchewan	for	each	calendar	
year with the hourly rate to be indexed to the consumer price index for 
the personal service of the architect plus disbursements and salaried 
costs at 3.0 times the payroll. It is further understood that annual 
indexing adjustments shall be implemented on February 1 of the 
year following, or as soon as is practically possible. “Payroll” shall 
include the salary of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project, 
plus the architect’s cost of mandatory and customary contributions 
and benefits related thereto, which include all contributions made with 
respect to Workers’ Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada 
Pension and all other statutory benefits and shall include sick leave, 
holidays, vacations, pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall 
include the design and general review of all engineering services 
including structural, mechanical, electrical and the like. Where an 
architect is consulted with regard to matters of which he/she has special 
knowledge and experience the suggested recommended rate for such 
consultation is 1.25 times the calculated fee rate.

EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 26.09
The member, associated member, retired member, firm or corporation 
shall annually pay the fees set forth in the Schedule of Fees of the 
Association by the 1st day of February or the member, associated 
member, retired member, firm or corporation will be automatically struck 
from the register for non-payment of fees.

Bylaw 26.09

The member, associated member, retired member, firm or corporation 
shall annually pay the fees set forth in the Schedule of Fees of the 
Association Appendix A of the SAA Bylaws by the 1st day of February 
first	business	day	of	January or the member, associated member, 
retired member, firm or corporation will be automatically struck from the 
register for non-payment of fees.

EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 26.11
Reinstatement as a member, associated member, retired member, firm 
or corporation, shall bear the same fee as initial registration. A person 
whose registration is cancelled by virtue of non-payment of fees or 
other sums in arrears may be reinstated by applying in writing to the 
Council. The application shall be accompanied by the unpaid amounts 
that caused the cancellation of membership or licence, plus a penalty 
prescribed by the Council.

Bylaw 26.11

Application for reinstatement as a member, associated member, 
or retired member; or application for reinstatement of licence for 
a firm or corporation, shall bear the same fee as initial registration 
and licensure applications. A person, firm	or	corporation whose 
registration or licence is cancelled by   virtue of non-payment of fees 
or other sums in arrears may be reinstated by applying in writing to the 
Council. The application shall be accompanied by the unpaid amounts 
that caused the cancellation of membership or licence, plus any penalty 
prescribed by the Council.
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EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 26.14 ADDITION Bylaw 26.14
Individuals,	firms	and	corporations	are	responsible	for	making	application	to	the	Association	for	membership	
and/or licensure prior to engaging in the practice of architecture or otherwise providing architectural 
services	in	Saskatchewan.	Where	an	individual,	firm	or	corporation	engages	in	the	practice	of	architecture	
prior to application, they shall be subject to a Delinquent Application Fee as established by Council and 
detailed in Appendix A of these Bylaws.

EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 31.01
Participation in a manner, and to the extent prescribed by Council, 
continuing education program shall be a requirement to maintain active 
registration status for the following categories of membership in the 
Association:

.1  registered architect;

.2  individuals who are licensed to practice architecture under Bylaw 
26.01.

Bylaw 31.01
Participation in a manner, and to the extent prescribed by Council, 
continuing education program shall be a requirement to maintain active 
registration status for the following categories of membership in the 
Association:
.1 registered architect;
.2 practicing, life member
.3 individuals who are licensed to practice architecture under Bylaw 
26.01. member under temporary licence

EXISTING AMENDMENT

Bylaw 32 ADDITION Bylaw 32
32.01  The committee shall notify, in writing, the member who is the subject of a report or allegation that 
a	report	or	allegation	has	been	received,	and	shall	ask	the	member	for	a	written	response	prior	to	the	
committee’s report being considered for submission to the Discipline Committee.
32.02  The committee shall notify, in writing, the person who made the report or allegation that the report 
will be reviewed.
32.03		The	committee	shall	take	appropriate	action	including:

.1  request any person to answer any questions and to produce any records, notes, photographs, 
drawings, papers or other documents in the person’s possession or under their control that are or may 
be relevant to the report or conduct being investigated; and
.2		with	the	consent	of	the	person	producing	them,	copy	and	keep	copies	of	any	of	the	documents	or	
things that are produced under clause 32.03.1.

32.04		The	committee	shall	hold	in	confidence	all	documentation	and	information	received.
32.05		Where	the	Professional	Conduct	Committee,	at	the	conclusion	of	its	investigation,	finds	that	there	
is	insufficient	evidence	to	refer	a	matter	to	the	Discipline	Committee,	but	finds	that	the	investigation	has	
revealed undesirable professional practice on the part of the member, the Professional Conduct Committee 
may	issue	a	letter	of	guidance	to	the	member	for	the	purpose	of	providing	confidential	feedback	focused	on	
improving the member’s professional practice.
32.06		Where	the	Professional	Conduct	Committee,	at	the	conclusion	of	its	investigation,	finds	that	
there	may	be	sufficient	evidence	to	refer	a	matter	to	the	Discipline	Committee,	the	Professional	Conduct	
Committee may pursue alternate, low-level resolution of the matter, including negotiation of a Consentual 
Resolution Agreement (CRA) with the member. The CRA may include such terms and conditions of licensure 
as the committee deems appropriate.
32.07  Entering into a CRA with the Professional Conduct Committee shall not be considered discipline 
against the member, however failure by the member to comply with the terms and conditions of the CRA 
may result in the matter being referred to the Discipline Committee.
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EXISTING AMENDMENT

Appendix A
.7 Reinstatement fees:

after suspension for non-payment of fees: membership
$250.00;
after suspension or expulsion under s. 37 of the Act: 
membership $550.00;

Appendix A
.7 Reinstatement fees:

after suspension for non-payment of fees: membership
$250.00; firm	$300.00
after suspension or expulsion under s. 37 of the Act: 
membership $550.00; firm	$600.00

VII.  Delinquent Application Fee
.1  Delinquent Registered Member Fee $1000 + Member 
Application Fee
.2  Delinquent Firm Fee $1000 + Firm Application Fee




